Nitrogen Losses: A Meta-analysis of 4R Nutrient Management in U.S. Corn-Based Systems

Report to the 4R Research Fund, Project #IPNI-2014-USA-4RM10

Revised 11 September 2015

Alison J. Eagle¹

Katie Locklier¹

James Heffernan²

Emily Bernhardt³

Tibor Vegh¹

Lydia P. Olander¹

¹Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions, Duke University

²Nicholas School of the Environment, Duke University

³Department of Biology, Duke University

Table of Contents

Interpretive Summary1
Introduction
Agricultural Nitrogen Losses
Study Objectives
Fertilizer Management to Reduce N Losses5
Methods9
Data Compilation
Data Analysis12
Results
Data description13
Fertilizer N rate yield, nitrous oxide, and nitrate20
Side-by-side comparisons of 4R management factors22
Hierarchical models of nitrous oxide and nitrate loss24
Nitrous oxide model results24
Nitrate model results
Discussion
Gap Analysis
Measures of Excess Nitrogen31
Interactions between NO $_3$ and N $_2$ O
Conclusions
References
Appendix A – Selection of Harvest Index for Estimation Purposes
Appendix B – Tabulated side-by-side comparisons of fertilizer source, placement, and timing as affecting N ₂ O and NO ₃ 42

Interpretive Summary

Nitrogen (N) fertilizer has enabled modern agriculture to produce sufficient food for a growing population. However, environmental damages from the loss of nitrous oxide (N₂O) – a potent greenhouse gas – and nitrate (NO₃) – a water quality pollutant – increase the need for improved management that minimizes losses and improves efficiency. Beginning in May 2014, we collected data from published reports of N₂O emissions and NO₃ leaching losses from corn-based cropping systems throughout North America with the goal of exploring how these N losses are influenced by 4R fertilizer N management (right rate, source, timing, and placement). The specific aim of this project was to determine the impact of 4R nutrient management on the unintended losses of fertilizer N as either N₂O or NO₃.

A comprehensive literature search identified 4400 research papers that mention fertilizer, nitrogen, or nutrient management in agriculture, or fertilizer-associated N₂O or NO₃ losses. After a review of titles and abstracts, the majority of studies were discarded because they were not about cropland, corn, or N losses, were outside North America, or did not address field N losses. A total of 237 studies fulfilled all of our search criteria and were subjected to further review. We carefully assessed each of these papers in order to identify the subset that reported co-occurring measures of N fertilization rate, crop yields and either N₂O or NO₃ losses. A total of 27 studies contained N₂O data and 22 contained NO₃ loss data together with crop yield and N fertilization rate (one study reported both losses). The final database built from these 48 individual studies included 408 observations of N₂O emissions and 396 observations of NO₃ leaching losses (runoff losses were not considered). An observation is defined as the growing season or annual N loss reported for a single year at a specific location for a given treatment.

Locations across studies for the N₂O and NO₃ data rarely overlap, only one study reported losses of both N₂O and NO₃, and management practices for both types of field studies are diverse. For example, 60% of NO₃ observations and only 1.4% (reportedly) of the N₂O data were from tile-drained fields, plus 40% of N₂O observations and only 8% of NO₃ data points were in no-till systems. Thus we were unable to identify possible trade-offs between air and water quality N pollutant losses (i.e., N₂O vs NO₃ losses).

We constructed N fertilizer response curves for yield, N₂O emissions, and NO₃ leaching losses. Crop yield increases with N rate up until a saturation point, N₂O emissions respond in an exponential fashion, and NO₃ leaching losses tend to show a linear relationship. Fertilizer source comparisons were conducted in about half of the N₂O observations, but only one NO₃ study examined different sources. Placement was compared in 15% of N₂O and 9% of NO₃ observations; timing was compared in 2% and 13% of N₂O and NO₃ observations, respectively. Effect sizes were calculated for six fertilizer source contrasts affecting N₂O – four of which showed significant loss reductions – and for one timing contrast affecting NO₃ – which was not significant. All other treatments had fewer than nine side-by-side comparisons or were limited to a single location.

Multi-level regression models were developed for both N₂O and NO₃ with the full datasets, and also with a subset of observations at typical fertilizer N application rates. By considering multiple factors, these

models captured differential effects of management and location between studies – thus broadening results beyond the specific side-by-side comparisons. With many different fertilizer N rates used in the component observations, rate proved to be a key factor for both N₂O and NO₃ losses. Nitrous oxide emissions increased with average July temperature, but decreased with the use of nitrification inhibitors and when fertilizer was applied while the crop was growing (i.e., side-dress). Nitrate losses were lower in soils with more soil C, and also in dryer climates, except where irrigated. While aqueous ammonia resulted in higher NO₃ losses as compared with other fertilizer sources, this may have limited practical or policy impact since it is not a commonly used fertilizer source – so not a component of the typical baseline practice. With poor regional coverage, minimal overlap between N₂O and NO₃, and limited data on placement and timing impacts, we have limited knowledge about important management practices. As a result, the best-available process-based models, which only have these existing studies for calibration, may be the only somewhat reliable way to compare and contrast loss responses to 4R fertilizer management in the foreseeable future.

Introduction

Fertilizer is essential for food production to feed a growing global population. However, worldwide nitrogen (N) fertilizer recovery is usually less than 50% (Fageria and Baligar 2005), leaving significant room for loss. These N losses can contribute to serious environmental consequences such as coastal dead zones and fish kills, acid rain, climate change, and stratospheric ozone destruction (Galloway et al. 2008). These damages result most notably from nitrate (NO₃) leaching and runoff, and nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions coming from nitrogen (N) not taken up by crops. This creates a need for improved fertilizer management that can both increase cropping efficiency and minimize the export of problematic nitrogen pollutants from farm fields. Such improvements can enhance both farm profitability and environmental sustainability.

Agricultural Nitrogen Losses

Fertilizer N losses increase crop production costs, and uncertain fertilizer use efficiencies may lead to over-application as a form of insurance. Reported recoveries of fertilizer N by corn range from 14 to 65% (Dinnes et al. 2002), and while some unused fertilizer stays within soil organic matter, significant losses are not uncommon. An improved understanding of the form of these losses can help target management efforts.

Key agricultural N loss pathways include gaseous emissions in the form of ammonia (NH₃) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) and aquatic losses that stem mainly from nitrate (NO₃) leaching. Studies in arable systems have found high variability in NO₃ loss rates, ranging between 3 and 54% of applied N (Di and Cameron 2002b). In comparison to NO₃, a typically smaller proportion of agricultural N is lost to the air. An extensive review by Bouwman et al. (2002) concluded that 7% of N in synthetic fertilizer is lost as NH₃ in industrialized countries. Ammonia losses from manure are about three times those from synthetic fertilizer. Denitrification, when soil microbes make use of NO₃ in oxygen-limited conditions, releases other gaseous forms of N, most notably dinitrogen gas (N₂), NO_x, and N₂O. The proportion of denitrified N released as N₂O varies. Agriculture accounts for 75% of total annual N₂O emissions in the U.S. (Cavigelli et al. 2012). Grace et al. (2011) estimated that about 2% of N applied to cereal corn in the North Central Region of the U.S. between 1964 and 2005 was lost as N₂O.

Nitrate in drinking water can have negative health impacts and is partly responsible for algal blooms and dead zones in impaired waterways and coastal areas (Camargo and Alonso 2006). Ammonia contributes to acid rain and can further harm sensitive natural habitats by adding N through deposition after being transported long distances through the air (Driscoll et al. 2001). The role of N₂O as a greenhouse gas (GHG) is especially significant, with more than 300 times the global warming potential than carbon dioxide (Forster et al. 2007). Nitrous oxide is also the most significant ozone depleting substance in the stratosphere (Ravishankara et al. 2009).

Whenever and wherever excess inorganic N is present in a farm soil in excess of plant demand there is a high potential for export of that excess N. There are many techniques by which farmers can avoid this situation (see Box A). They can reduce losses by simply adding less N, but this alone may lead to a reduction in crop yield. Maintaining or increasing yields along with improved N management is critical to avoid shifting production and associated N losses elsewhere. Better options are to add smaller but more

strategic doses of right N source at the right times and in the right places so that supply is best matched to crop demand. These four key factors of fertilizer management – namely, the right rate, right time, right place, and right source – are promoted in agricultural extension as the 4R Nutrient Management framework.

Option A vs. Option B



Fertilizer N rate (kg N ha-1 yr-1)

Figure 1. Schematic representation of yield and pollutant responses to fertilizer N rate. Options A and B illustrate possible management, soil, or climatic systems that exhibit differing potential to optimize yield and N loss responses.

It is very important to understand how both crop and pollutant outcomes vary with fertilizer management. Even though N losses are often calculated as a proportion of fertilizer applied,¹ such a linear response of yield and N losses to fertilizer application rate may not be the best model. There are also many reasons to doubt that NO₃, N₂O, and yield all have the same response to fertilizer source, timing, and placement. In fact, it is only if they don't respond in the same way that there is potential to reduce losses while maintaining or increasing yield. Responses are also unlikely to be invariant across space and time. The response to fertilizer rate could differ from one location to another, or from one management system compared to another. For example, the two options shown in Figure 1 could represent two different types of soil or two different tillage systems, with varying yield, N₂O, and NO₃ responses to fertilizer rate within a given range. In each option, an optimum point can be found at which the benefits of yield can be maximized in relationship to the costs of N pollution.

¹ Most regional and global models – as well as smaller-scale models used in existing environmental markets – assume a linear relationship to fertilizer application rate (i.e., N₂O and NO₃ losses represent a fraction of loading, or loading in excess of crop demand). The IPCC Tier-I model estimates that 1.0% of all mineral fertilizer is lost at the field as N₂O, plus 30% of fertilizer N is leached as NO₃ in wet or irrigated regions, of which 0.75% is then lost as indirect N₂O emissions (IPCC 2006). The Canadian Nitrous Oxide Emissions Reduction Protocol (NERP), adopted for the Alberta offsets system, uses an expert-derived model with linear N₂O response to N rate (Government of Alberta 2010). One protocol for voluntary carbon markets applies a non-linear empirical model to mid-western states for which sufficient data are available (see Hoben et al. 2011), but the rest of the U.S. is treated under linear IPCC Tier-I assumptions (Millar et al. 2012). The ADAPT model, commonly used for water quality trading programs, also assumes a set proportion of fertilizer N applied to be lost as leached NO₃ (Davis et al. 2000).

Study Objectives

Many studies on fertilizer management have evaluated responses of crop yield and N losses to a subset of management options and do so in a limited range of natural variability (soils and climate). However, rarely have they considered losses of *both* NO₃ and N₂O or how these relationships vary with soil, climate, or crop type. In this research, we compiled a database of fertilizer management field studies that measured yield, NO₃ leaching and N₂O emissions, and included all available information on fertilizer timing, placement, rate, and source, as well as climate, soils, and other management factors. By ensuring that all effects of management practices are suitably analyzed in meta-analysis of the data, this approach can provide more strategic and comprehensive information, reducing the risk of unintended negative consequences when recommending management change.

The goal of this project was to enhance our understanding of what is controlling nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) and N loss pathways. The project focused on the impact of 4R nutrient management on total N losses relative to yield from corn-based cropping systems in the United States. We asked the following questions:

First, how do crop yield, NO_3 leaching, and N_2O emissions respond to N fertilizer application rate, timing, type, and placement? This would inform how best to manage for maximum yields while minimizing N losses in a particular place. For example, in a given situation, improved timing could enhance yield and nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) and reduce multiple forms of N loss.

Second, how do these effects of fertilization practices depend on climate and soil factors? That is, how would management need to shift across climates and soils to achieve the same goals? If fertilizer rate adjustments affect N losses more in one region than another, perhaps resources for change can be directed in a targeted manner.

And third, how do NO₃ and N₂O losses co-vary with management, climate, and soil? Where does management result in changes that are positively versus negatively correlated? If changing fertilizer source in a certain cropping system or soil type simply shifts losses from NO₃ to N₂O, actual benefits may be uncertain.

The resulting database also fulfills an additional project goal of compiling data in a form to which others can add and also use for comparing new study sites to existing research.

Fertilizer Management to Reduce N Losses

Crop yield and NUE implications of 4R management have been the subject of much field research and agricultural extension (Fageria and Baligar 2005; Raun and Johnson 1999). Although it is clear that better matching N addition to crop demand (with appropriate rate, source, timing, and placement) will maximize crop yields while reducing fertilizer costs, it is far less clear how the effects of various fertilization scenarios will alter the form, timing and magnitude of N pollutant losses.

Water quality concerns related to fertilizer management gained traction in field research in the 1960s (Jolley and Pierre 1977; Olsen et al. 1970). Research that summarizes management strategies for NO₃ pollution reduction has focused on the use of in-field activities including 4R management (Power et al. 2001) as well as edge-of-field or off-site activities such as biofilters and wetlands (Dinnes et al. 2002). In the first known meta-analysis of fertilizer management and nitrate leaching losses, Zhou and Butterbach-Bahl (2014) assessed the yield-scaled loss implications of agricultural N management practices in both maize and wheat cropping systems, finding that the lowest yield-scaled losses occurred at slightly suboptimal fertilization rates (e.g., at 90% of maximum yield for corn).

Box A: 4R Fertilizer Management – The Right Source applied at the Right Rate and the Right Time, in the Right Place.

Right Rate

In general, crop yields are expected to increase with fertilizer input up to the point of saturation, beyond which excess N is particularly susceptible to losses. The right rate of fertilizer application is the one that maximizes yield while minimizing economic and environmental costs. However, the rate of application that achieves these ends depends strongly on soil fertility and crop type, as well as the type, timing, and placement of fertilizer application and other management strategies. Climate and soil characteristics play very important roles, especially as they affect crop yield potential (and thus N uptake), as well as the hydrological and microbiological factors that govern NO₃ leaching and N₂O emissions. Fertilizer N application rate can in a way serve as an integrator of other management practices, with potential for downward rate adjustments as changing practices reduce losses and leave more N available to the crop.

Right Time

The right timing of fertilizer application can increase nitrogen use efficiency. In many regions, fall fertilizer applications have been common practice, allowing for fewer spring field operations and thus earlier planting. However, application rate recommendations are higher to account for the anticipated losses over winter months. Split applications, in which growing season fertilizer is applied at multiple times, can also reduce losses, although additional labor, fuel, and equipment costs may make such practice unattractive in practice. In drip and flood irrigated systems, multiple split fertilizer applications can accompany irrigation water, allowing farmers a great deal of control in timing nutrient additions to best meet crop needs. If fertilizer is applied when the crop is growing (either as part of a split application or as the only application), this is called "side-dressing". Timing of fertilizer application can have differential effects by climate and soil type as well.

Box A (cont.)

Right placement

Fertilizer placement variations include broadcast versus incorporating (which can include banding), as well as different depths of application when injecting/banding. In irrigated systems, fertilizer can also be applied directly within the irrigation water (i.e., fertigation).

Placement affects N availability to the plant, as well as availability for loss pathways. Soil and climate factors can also affect loss and yield responses to placement. Lower temperatures may reduce the otherwise high NH₃ losses from broadcast urea-based fertilizer as compared with banded applications. Similarly, precipitation likely reduces NH₃ losses from broadcast fertilizer, but increases denitrification and leaching (and thus N₂O and NO₃ losses).

Right source

The type or source of fertilizer influences the timing of availability and susceptibility to loss because different N sources perform better in terms of NUE in different locations. Common fertilizer types include urea, anhydrous ammonia, and UAN. Controlled- or slow-release fertilizer have been developed to improved NUE, and additives such as nitrification inhibitors or urease inhibitors, while not fertilizer sources per-se, also serve to improve NUE in certain soil and climate conditions. Along with slow-release mechanisms, inhibitors are incorporated in a number of commercial brand-name fertilizer formulations that advertise their efficiency gains (e.g., Super U by Koch Agronomic Services, LLC). Manure is an important nutrient source in many cropping systems, globally accounting for around 30% of N applied to crops, but because of highly variable N availability and significant losses, tends to achieve lower NUE rates.

With increasing concerns about ozone depletion and climate change by the late 1970s, researchers began to measure in-field N₂O emissions as affected by fertilizer management (Breitenbeck and Bremner 1986; Breitenbeck et al. 1980; Bremner et al. 1981; Bronson et al. 1992). Comprehensive reviews of this research have noted that 4R fertilizer management practices can reduce N₂O emissions by better matching supply to crop needs, even though the directly measured evidence for some practices is only available in certain regions or cropping systems (Dalal et al. 2003; Snyder et al. 2009).

Quantitative summaries that include multiple practices are limited. With a focus on US cropping systems, Eagle and Olander (2012) used field data to determine the GHG mitigation potential of many different agricultural practices, including average N₂O emission reduction from 4R fertilizer management. They calculated average emission reduction potential for different fertilizer management activities ranging from 0.12 to 0.59 t CO2e ha⁻¹ (0.26 to 1.3 kg N ha⁻¹). Using meta-analysis methods, Linquist et al. (2012) documented the GHG emission response to fertilizer management in rice systems, including N₂O emission reductions of 29% with nitrification inhibitors and increased N₂O emissions from deep fertilizer placement. A more focused meta-analysis on corn systems in the U.S. Midwest examined the N₂O emission implications of multiple fertilizer management practices, finding that N₂O response to

rate varied by region and that the use of nitrification inhibitors decreased N_2O losses by almost 40% (Decock 2014).

Other studies (including some meta-analyses) assess single practice implications for both N₂O emissions and NO₃ leaching. Fertilizer application rate has been considered more than any other 4R practice. Emission responses to N rate are predominantly non-linear and exponential in arable cropping systems throughout the world, especially at application rates above the crop N uptake (Kim et al. 2013; Shcherbak et al. 2014; van Groenigen et al. 2010). Recent models of NO₃ leaching find that the losses per unit applied may increase with rate as well (Qi et al. 2012).

Many studies have compared the N₂O production consequences of two or more fertilizer types. In comparing studies across regions, soil temperature and moisture conditions seem to dominate emission differences between commonly-used fertilizer sources such as urea, anhydrous ammonia (AA), ammonium sulfate so that there is not always a clear "winner" (Snyder et al. 2009). For example, Venterea et al. (2010) reported from a Minnesota side-by-side field study that emissions with AA were double those of urea, but a global summary by Stehfest and Bouwman (2006) of over 150 agricultural observations found no average emission difference between these two sources. Polymer-coated urea reduced N₂O emissions by 10 to 45% in wheat, corn, and potato cropping systems (Burton et al. 2008a; Halvorson et al. 2010a; Hyatt et al. 2010), Emissions from coated urea in the first weeks after fertilization were 71% lower in barley, but continued N₂O release after that point was higher than for urea (Delgado and Mosier 1996). In at least one case, polymer-coated urea produced lower crop yield (Venterea et al. 2011b), so that calculating emissions on a yield-scaled basis negated any possible benefit.

Few fertilizer source comparisons for NO₃ leaching implications have been reported, with the exception of sources that are combined with nitrification inhibitors (NIs). Even though NIs are not a source of fertilizer per-se, we treated them along with other sources, as they are formulated into some highefficiency N fertilizers, and even when not part of the formulation they are applied at the same time as N fertilizer. Nitrification inhibitors can reduce total NO₃ losses in grassland and vegetable cropping systems by up to 76% and 59%, respectively (Cui et al. 2011; Di and Cameron 2002a). A meta-analysis of field studies around the world determined average N₂O emission reductions of 38% with nitrification inhibitors (Akiyama et al. 2010), with more pronounced effect in grasslands (54% reduction) than on upland (34%) or rice fields (30%).

There have been considerable efforts to document the losses associated with the common practice of fall fertilization. Nitrous oxide losses from fall N fertilizer application may be more pronounced in regions where the spring thaw generates a strong denitrification pulse (Johnson et al. 2011). Shifting application from fall to spring reduced N₂O emissions by over 70% in a Canadian wheat/canola rotation (Hao et al. 2001) and decreased NO₃ losses by about 40% in a New Zealand grassland (Di and Cameron 2002c; Hao et al. 2001). Nitrate implications in corn seem to be variable, with a 14% loss reduction in Minnesota (Randall and Vetsch 2005), but no impact in an Iowa study (Lawlor et al. 2011).

Nitrous oxide emission reductions of up to 40% have also been achieved by changing fertilizer timing from pre-plant to split in potatoes (Burton et al. 2008b). However, in corn, neither splitting fertilizer N application instead of all pre-plant in Indiana (Smith et al. 2011) nor side-dressing instead of pre-plant in North Dakota (Phillips et al. 2009) and New Brunswick (Zebarth et al. 2008) affected N₂O emissions in a consistent manner. Split fertilizer applications are also recommended for reducing NO₃ losses (Dinnes et al. 2002), although supporting field data are limited.

Far fewer studies have explicitly examined the impact of fertilizer placement on N₂O and NO₃ losses. However, other management factors have proven important. Soils with stratified organic matter (i.e., significantly greater amounts near the surface as typified in no-till systems) lost less N to denitrification when fertilizer is placed at greater depth (Khalil et al. 2009). In a meta-analysis of over 200 direct comparisons between conventional tillage and reduced or no-till systems (RT/NT), van Kessel et al. (2013) found that RT/NT reduced N₂O emissions only when fertilizer was placed at \geq 5 cm depth. Walters & Malzer (1990) tested incorporation of urea fertilizer, with no significant effect on NO₃ losses or water percolation. Bakhsh et al. (2010) tested localized compaction and doming as opposed to conventional knife injection for UAN over a five-year period, with some reduced NO₃ concentrations but increased total flow, so that total leaching losses between the two systems were not significantly different.

No known reviews quantitatively examine the fertilizer management effects on both N₂O and NO₃ simultaneously. One recent field study of corn in Minnesota measured N losses with pre-plant polymercoated urea and SUPERU[™] as well as urea applied with a split application; finding some loss reductions in both N₂O and NO₃ losses with the improved treatments (Maharjan et al. 2014). Some combined N₂O and NO₃ measurements have also been reported from non-corn cropping systems. Studies of nitrification inhibitors in grassland and vegetable cropping systems have measured co-existent N₂O and NO₃ loss reductions (Cui et al. 2011; Di and Cameron 2002a), and some source-timing combinations on potato were also beneficial for both loss pathways (Venterea et al. 2011a).

Therefore, while field research is beginning to assess the responses of both N_2O and NO_3 to fertilizer and other management, the relationship between the two is largely undefined. This research fills that gap with a combined analysis, beginning to assess the potential for synergies and trade-offs that have significant implications for market trading systems in both water and air quality.

Methods

This research project expanded an existing literature database on field research (as of 2011) in the U.S. and Canada regarding N₂O emissions and 4R nutrient management (Eagle and Olander 2012). In this case, however, focus was limited to field studies in corn systems in North America. Corn takes up about one-quarter of all harvest cropland in U.S. and accounts for 40% of the fertilizer used. Because of its significance to U.S. agriculture, much existing field research pertains to rotations dominated by corn. Limiting the analysis of data to one crop also has potential to reduce some unknown and unquantified differences between crops that could be further complicated by climate, soil, and other management

characteristics. Even with this focus, there is potential for information exchange to and from other cropping systems.

Data Compilation

Data collection began with a comprehensive literature search for field studies of North American cornbased systems published through July 2014. This search was performed using ISI Web of Science with terms related to agricultural N losses (fertilizer, nitrogen, nutrient management, agriculture, nitrous oxide, nitrate, leaching, and emissions), and identified 4400 papers in the scientific literature. Of these studies, over 1800 were discarded upon initial title review because they were not about cropland systems or N losses, they dealt with non-N types of fertilizer (e.g., phosphorus or potassium), or they addressed N losses and transport after the field. The remaining 2590 papers were put through a more detailed review of article abstracts to select those with potential for useful data. This triage discarded about 1500 papers that were either outside of North America or not in corn systems, plus a selection of others that were about manure only or did not address fertilizer management. Laboratory and greenhouse studies were also excluded.

In the end, 237 papers were selected with potential for field data on fertilizer N management and losses. Review articles from the initial search were also utilized for a snowball search to capture additional research, but of 150 possible papers identified in this way, only one contained useable data. Each study was reviewed for topical relevance and data availability, with results of this review recorded in a relational Access database designed for the project. The database collected information at three different levels: first the study/citation, then locations within that study, and then observations at each location. To reduce data entry errors, drop-down lists with potential options were created for all relevant variables (e.g., fertilizer source). If a research study did not contain useful data, the reason for exclusion was noted, and it was set aside without recording any further information. Each citation retained for the database recorded either or both N_2O and NO_3 losses from field experiments of cornbased cropping systems in the United States or Canada for which 4R fertilizer management treatments were applied.² Manure and other organic fertilizer were not included because of the additional complexity this would have added.

Location-level data including climate and soil characteristics were recorded once, to be connected with all related observations. At the observation-level, all available details were collected regarding crop type, crop rotation, irrigation and water management, tillage, fertilizer management (rate, timing, placement, and source), crop yield, N uptake, soil N, and N losses as N₂O and NO₃. Nitrification inhibitors were included in the source category. In many cases, it was also possible to record fertilizer rate and crop type from the previous year, as well as variability measures for yield and N losses. All observations included in the database were in the corn phase of the rotation and recorded 1) losses of either or both N₂O and NO₃ over at least 55 days during the growing season, 2) crop yield, 3) N application rate, 4) number of replicates. An observation is defined as the growing season or annual N loss reported for a single year at a specific location for a given treatment.

² While Mexico was included in the search (being in North America), no available loss data were identified.

If crop yield, N losses, soil water NO₃, and soil extractable N values were only presented in graphical form without directly reporting in the literature, numerical values were requested from individual data owners for research published post-2004. For the same date range, clarifications about and numerical values of data from combined treatments were also requested from individual data owners. Any remaining data available only in graphical form were quantified using DataThief III (B. Tummers, http://datathief.org).

Climate data included the long-term (30-year) averages for total annual precipitation, mean annual temperature, and mean July temperature, as well as annual precipitation for the study year. Where not provided within the published studies, these data were retrieved from the nearest National Climatic Data Center (NCDC) weather station. Soil characteristics included organic matter content, drainage, and texture.

Details pertaining to N loss measurements were also documented, such as the relevant time-frame, frequency of measurement, peak N loss rates, and method of measurement. Nitrous oxide emissions were measured solely with in-field chamber methods. Leaching losses in the database were calculated from NO_3^- concentrations measured in porous-cup-collected soil water in combination with hydrological modeling (14%), by measuring tile water drainage volume and NO_3^- concentrations (61%), or by using lysimeters (25%).

All corn yield values were reported at (or corrected to) 15.5% moisture. In the small number (7%) of cases where yield was reported as total biomass, it was converted to grain yield using a harvest index of 0.53.³ A number of observations were removed from further analysis because drought reduced yield or the yield reported was not reported separately for distinct treatments. Given that the objective is NUE (i.e., yield per unit of nutrient) rather than yield increases or N loss reduction alone, yield-scaled N losses are used in this study as in more recent research addressing both N₂O (Johnson et al. 2011; van Groenigen et al. 2010; Venterea et al. 2011b) and NO₃ (Zhou and Butterbach-Bahl 2014).

Some data for N uptake were imputed for use in the analysis. Total aboveground N uptake was reported in 21% of observations, and grain N uptake in an additional 10%. Where only grain N uptake was reported, this was converted to aboveground N using an estimated N harvest index for corn of 0.64 (i.e., total N in grain as fraction of total aboveground N, see van Groenigen et al. 2010). For observations where N uptake was not reported directly, it was estimated from crop yield (converted to total biomass with a harvest index of 0.53), and an average whole plant N content of 0.96% (the median for all observations that recorded N uptake).

Data variance is commonly used as a weighting factor in meta-analysis, especially when there are many observations within each study. Some researchers have assigned an average standard deviation from other studies to the observations that didn't report variance (Akiyama et al. 2010). In the current database, variance was reported for only 33% of yield observations, 58% of N₂O observations, and only 19% of NO₃ observations. Since each study had an average of three observations per treatment, and

³ Based on a literature review, a harvest index (grain as a fraction of total above-ground biomass) of 0.53 for corn seems a reasonable estimate (see Appendix A for details).

there were numerous studies per location, variance-weighting was determined to be inferior to location-based weighting.

Data Analysis

The core relationships are the responses of crop yield and N losses to both absolute fertilizer rate and fertilizer excess (i.e., fertilizer N applied minus N uptake). Where three or more N rates – including a control with zero or near-zero N^4 – were used for a specific cropping system in a single year and location, we constructed N fertilizer response curves for yield, N₂O emissions, and NO₃ leaching losses. Due to lack of N uptake data (only available for 21% of observations), N excess curves were less robust and subsequently discarded.

A more traditional meta-analysis of side-by-side comparisons was then used to detail loss responses to those management practices for which sufficient observations are available. Results were weighted so that locations with many observations did not overwhelm those with less available data. Each observation was weighted by the following factor: 1/ In (# of observations in location).

Multi-level (hierarchical) models constructed for both N₂O and NO₃ losses use all observations, including those that did not measure a rate response, with location as the group level. Such models are also called mixed-effects, because they include a combination of both random and fixed effects within the model. By determining effects at the group level, this type of model determines the relationships between losses and the driving factors for each location, while allowing effects at each location to explain the overall effects.

The multi-level model initially looks like your typical regression,

(1) $y_{ij} = \beta_1 + \beta_2 x_{2ij} + \dots + \xi_{ij}$ $\xi_{ij} = \sigma_j + \epsilon_{ij}$

where y_{ij} is nitrogen loss of observation *i* at location *j*, β_1 is the constant or intercept, and x_2 and following are covariates with coefficients of β_2 and following. The residual error term is ξ_{ij} . Since we expect the losses at a certain location to be correlated with each other in this model, the error term, ξ , can be split into two components – σ_j , the error shared by all observations at the same location; and ϵ_{ij} , the remaining residual unique for each observation. This error term at the group level (σ_j) represents the combined effects of omitted characteristics or unobserved heterogeneity for each location.

A likelihood ratio test examines the total variance at the group level (i.e., between groups) and the total variance at the individual level (i.e., within groups). This test determines whether group level variance is sufficient to favor the multi-level regression over an ordinary regression model. For both N₂O and NO₃ losses, the multi-level structure improves the models, largely because background losses and response to treatment vary by location.

⁴ Fertilizer N control application rates were generally zero, but also included treatments with up to 30 kg N/ha applied at planting – often called a "starter" – or treatments up to 45 kg N/ha that included with a known amount of N in irrigation water.

In addition to correcting for unknown or un-quantified differences between groups, the multi-level model addresses unbalanced observations, so that the overall effect of an independent variable (or $\hat{\beta}$) is a weighted mean of the cluster means. Therefore,

(2)
$$\hat{\beta} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{J} w_j \bar{y}_{,j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{J} w_j}$$
, where $w_j = \frac{1}{\hat{\varphi} + \hat{\theta}/n_j}$

and $\bar{y}_{,j}$ is the average for each cluster, now weighted by the weighting factor w_j . The weighting factor, or the contribution of a specific group to the overall mean, increases with increasing group size (i.e., n_j is greater. Similarly, as the variance increases, both within groups ($\hat{\theta}$) and between groups ($\hat{\varphi}$), the weighting factor decreases and the contribution of that group is reduced.

Results

The final dataset consisted of 408 observations of N_2O field losses from 27 studies (18 distinct locations) and 396 observations of NO_3 field losses from 22 studies (16 distinct locations). Only one study (16 observations) reported simultaneous N_2O and NO_3 losses. The data cover much of the area of North America for which corn is a primary crop (Figure 2), but there are notable areas with very different soils and climates where corn is grown with little information in either one or both loss pathways. All of the following results focus only on this first tier of data, i.e., those with corn as the crop and yield data available.

Additional data in the database that were not used in this analysis includes observations of N loss measurements for which no corresponding corn crop yield data were available. With this the total dataset grew to a total of 495 N₂O and 456 NO₃ records, expanding geographic cover to an additional five locations for N₂O and two locations for NO₃. Nitrogen losses from other crops within the corn-based rotations were also included in the dataset, for a total of 54 NO₃ observations and 166 N₂O observations. Only about half of these non-corn observations included crop yield. None of these data were used in the analysis shown below.

Data description

Data originated from studies with divergent geographic, management, and other characteristics. Only one study measured the two loss pathways simultaneously. For N₂O emissions, data come from 27 studies, plus eight studies reporting loss measurements but not crop yield (see Table 1). In terms of regional distribution, 30% of observations came from Colorado, 21% from Eastern Canada, 17% from Minnesota, 14% from Michigan, and the remaining 18% from eight other U.S. states. Field data were collected between 1994 and 2012, with a median of 2007. Urea was the most commonly used form of fertilizer N (26% of non-control observations), followed by UAN (22%), SUPERUTM, Ammonium nitrate, ESN[®] (each of the latter three with 9% of observations), and polymer coated urea (7%). Other sources were less common. No-till was practiced with 38% of observations, 41% were irrigated, ⁵ and only 1.6% of the N₂O observations were reportedly in tile-drained fields. More than 95% of N₂O measurements

⁵ Note that some "irrigated" systems were only irrigated sparingly to address drought conditions.

covered the entire growing season or more, with 69% of observations monitoring for up to six months of the year, 19% for between six and nine months, and 7% of observations including data from a full year.



Figure 2. Geographic distribution of agricultural N loss dataset

Data for NO₃ leaching losses come from 22 studies, plus five reporting NO₃ losses but not crop yield (Table 2). The vast majority of these come from Iowa (51%) and Minnesota (21%), with 9% from Colorado and the remaining 19% from six other U.S. states and Eastern Canada. These studies tended to be earlier than those for N₂O, with field data collected between 1980 and 2010 and a median of 1994. UAN comprised 48% of non-control observations, followed by anhydrous ammonia (15%), urea (14%), ammonium nitrate (8%), and ammonium sulfate (8%). Other sources were used in only a small number of cases. Most were conventional tillage (67%), with no-till for only 8% of observations. Nitrate loss measurements were primarily (60%) in fields with tile-drainage, and 26% of observations were in irrigated systems. More than 98% of NO₃ measurements covered the entire growing season or more, with 39% of observations monitoring for up to six months of the year, 53% for between six and nine months, and 7% of observations including data from a full year.

Table 1. Studies used in the N₂O meta-analysis. Location, soil texture, fertilizer management, tillage and water management, and range of N₂O emissions.

Ref.	No of obs.	Location	Year(s)	Soil texture	Tillage	Water mgmt	Fert N source and Inhibitors	Fert N rates (kg N/ha)	Fertilizer timing	Fertilizer placement	N₂O losses (kg N/ha)	Plant N uptake
Adviento-Borbe et al. (2007)	10	NE/USA	2003-05	Silty clay loam	СР	IRR	AN, Combo	0–310	Sp, Sp (PP+SD)	Brd/Inc	1.4–9.2	Ν
Almaraz et al. (2009)	4	QC/Canada	2002-03	Clay loam	MB, NT	None	AN	0–180	Sp	Bnd	2.3–5.5	N
Dell et al. (2014)	25	PA/USA	2009-12	Silt loam	NT	None	ESN, PINT, SupU, UAN+AP, UAN, Urea	0–154	SD+St	Bnd, Brd	0.1–2.9	N
Drury et al. (2006)	18	ON/Canada	2000-02	Clay loam	NT, CsT, MB	None	AN	182	SD+St	KI(d), KI(s)	1.3–9.0	N
Drury et al. (2012)	36	ON/Canada	2004-06	Fine sandy loam	NT, CsT, MB	None	PCU, Urea	152	AP, SD+St	Bnd	1.2–9.2	N
Fujinuma et al. (2011)	8	MN/USA	2009-10	Loamy sand	МВ	IRR	AA, Urea	37–223	Sp+St	Brd/Inc, KI(d), KI(s)	0.1–1.6	Y
Halvorson and Del Grosso (2012)	14	CO/USA	2009-10	Clay loam	NT	IRR	ESN, SupU, UAN, UAN +AP, Urea	0–202	SD	Bnd SR, Bnd SS	0.2–1.8	Y
Halvorson and Del Grosso (2013)	20	CO/USA	2010-11	Clay loam	CsT, NT	IRR	ESN, Urea, SupU, UAN	202	SD	Bnd SR, Brd	0.3–1.7	Y
Halvorson et al. (2008)	20	CO/USA	2005-06	Clay loam	MB, NT	IRR	Combo	0–246	AP, Sp	Bnd SR	0.2–1.8	N
Halvorson et al. (2010b)	14	CO/USA	2007-08	Clay loam	NT	IRR	ESN, PCU, SupU, UAN+AP, UAN, Urea	0–246	SD	Bnd SR	0.2–0.9	Y
Halvorson et al. (2010a)	21	CO/USA	2007-08	Clay loam	MB, NT	IRR	ESN, SupU, Urea	0–246	SD	Bnd SR	0.1–2.6	Y
Halvorson et al. (2011)	16	CO/USA	2009-10	Clay loam	CsT	IRR	ESN, UAN+Nf, SupU, UAN+AP, UAN, Urea	0–202	SD	Bnd SR, Bnd SS	0.1–1.7	Y
Hoben et al. (2011)	36	MI/USA	2007-08	Loam, Sand	СР	None	Urea	0–225	РР	Brd	0.3–5.2	N
Maharjan and Venterea (2013)	15	MN/USA	2011-12	Silt loam	Unk	None	Combo, ESN, SupU, Urea	0–180	SD	Bnd MR, Brd/Inc	0.4–6.2	N
Maharjan et al. (2014)	16	MN/USA	2009-10	Loamy sand	СР	IRR	ESN, SupU, Urea, UAN	6–186	PP+St, Sp+St	Brd/Inc	0.2–0.4	Y
McSwiney and Robertson (2005)	18	MI/USA	2001-03	Loam	СР	IRR	Combo, UAN	0–291	Sp (PP+SD)	Brd/Inc, KI	0.02–6.9	N

Mosier et al. (2006)	28	CO/USA	2002-04	Clay loam	MB, NT	IRR	UAN	0–224	РР	KI(s)	0.2–3.6	N
Nash et al. (2012)	6	MO/USA	2009-10	Silt loam	NT, CsT	IRR	Urea, PCU	0–140	АР	Bnd, Brd	1.1–6.1	N
Parkin and Hatfield (2010)	4	IA/USA	2006-07	Silty clay loam	CsT	None	AA, AA+NP, Combo, Combo+NP	125–168	F	КІ	5.3–7.0	N
Pelster et al. (2011)	6	QC/Canada	2004	Clay loam	NT, MB	TD	AN	0–160	Sp	Bnd	0.8–2.8	N
Phillips et al. (2009)	2	ND/USA	2008	Clay loam	NT, MB	None	Urea	70	PP, SD	Brd	0.27–0.33	N
Sistani et al. (2011)	14	KY/USA	2009-10	Silt loam	NT	None	AN, ESN, Urea, SupU, UAN, UAN+AP	0–168	SD	Brd	1.0–5.9	N
Smith et al. (2011)	15	IN/USA	2005-07	Silt loam	CsT, CP, NT	None	UAN	0–168	AP, Sp (PP+AP), Sp (PP+SD)	Bnd, KI	0.5–11.2	N
Thornton and	3	TN/USA	1993	Silt loam	NT		AN	0–252	SD	Brd	1.9–8.5	N
Thornton et al. (1996)	3	TN/USA	1994	Silt loam	NT	None	AA, Urea	0–168	SD	Bnd MR	1.4–13.8	N
Venterea et al. (2010)	12	MN/USA	2006-07	Silt loam	СР	None	AA, Urea	0–146	РР	Brd, Kl	0.6–3.4	N
Venterea et al. (2011b)	24	MN/USA	2008-10	Silt loam	MB, NT	None	Urea, PCU, SupU	5–151	SD+St	Brd	0.4–1.1	Y
Bronson et al. (1992)	10	CO/USA	1989-90	Clay loam	MB, CP	IRR	Urea, Urea+NP, Urea+ECC	0–218	SD	KI	0.1–3.4	Ν
Duxbury and McConnaughey (1986)	3	NY/USA	1981	Silt loam	Unk	None	CN, Urea	0–140	SD+St	KI	0.3–2.5	N
Hernandez- Ramirez et al. (2009)	4	IN/USA	2005-06	Silty clay loam	СР	None	UAN	0–157	SD	KI	4.4–6.9	N
Johnson et al. (2010)	9	MN/USA	2004-06	Silty clay loam	CsT, MB	None	AN, AA	0–150	SD+St	Brd, Kl	4.2–6.4	N
Mitchell et al. (2013)	3	IA/USA	2011	Loam	NT	None	UAN	0–225	SD	Bnd SR	1.3–5.1	N
Omonode and Vyn (2013)	8	IN/USA	2011-12	Silt loam	NT, CsT	None	UAN, UAN+NP	200	SD	КІ	0.3–16.3	N
Paniagua (2006)	24	MO/USA	2004-05	Silt loam	СР	IRR, SIRR, TD	ESN, Urea	13–299	PP+St	Brd/Inc	2.0–43	N
Smith et al. (2011)	5	IN/USA	2004	Silt loam	CsT, CP, NT	None	UAN	168	AP, PP, Sp (PP+SD)	Bnd, Kl	2.9–3.8	N
Venterea et al. (2005)	12	MN/USA	2003-04	Silt loam	CP, MB, NT	None	AA, UAN, Urea	120	PP, SD	Brd, Kl	0.4–4.2	N
Zebarth et al. (2008)	8	NB/Canada	2004-05	Silt loam	Unk	None	AN	45–209	Sp (PP+SD)	Bnd, Brd/Inc	1.0–3.3	N

Abbreviations

Tillage Practice: CP - Chisel plow; CsT - Conservation tillage (reduced, strip, ridge, precision, vertical); MB - Moldboard plow; NT - No till; Unk - Unknown

Water Management: IRR - Irrigated; SIRR - Subirrigation; TD - Tile drainage

N source, as well as co-applied nitrification and urease inhibitors: AA - Anhydrous ammonia; AN - Ammonium nitrate; AP - AGROTAIN® PLUS; AS -Ammonium sulfate; CN - Calcium nitrate; Combo -combination; ECC - encapsulated calcium carbide; ESN - ESN®, Environmental Smart Nitrogen; Nf -NITAMIN NFUSION®; NP - Nitrapyrin; PCU - Polymer coated urea; PiNT - a cation-stabilized amine N product; SupU - SUPERU™; UAN - Urea ammonium nitrate

Fertilizer timing: AP - At planting; F - Fall; PP - Preplant; SD - Side dress; Sp - Split; St - Starter

Fertilizer placement: Brd – Broadcast; Brd/Inc - Broadcast and incorporated; Bnd - Banded; Bnd MR - Banded midrow; Bnd SR - Banded siderow; Bnd SS - Banded subsurface; KI - Knife injected; KI(d) - Knife injected deep; KI(s) - Knife injected shallow

17

Table 2. Studies used in the NO₃ meta-analysis. Location, soil texture, fertilizer management, tillage and water management, and range of NO₃ leaching losses. Records listed below the bold solid line do not include crop yield.

	No of					Water	Fert N source	Fert N rates	Fertilizer	Fertilizer	NO ₃ losses	Plant N
Ref.	obs.	Location	Year(s)	Soil texture	Tillage	mgmt	and Inhibitors	(kg N/ha)	timing	placement	(kg N/ha)	uptake
Bakhsh et al. (2002)	24	IA/USA	1993-98	Silty clay Ioam	CP, NT	TD	UAN	93–195	PP, SD	KI	3–46	Ν
Bakhsh et al. (2010)	10	IA/USA	2001-05	Silt loam	СР	TD	UAN	168	AP, PP	KI, LCD	0.4–27.5	N
Basso and Ritchie (2005)	12	MI/USA	1994-99	Loam	MB	None	Urea	0–120	Sp (PP+SD)	Brd	11–89	N
Guillard et al.	6	CN/USA	1995-96	Fine sandy	MB	None	AN	34–196	PP, SD, Sp (PP+SD)	Unk	4–61	N
Heilman et al. (2012)	49	IA/USA	1990-03	Silty clay loam	CP, RT, MB. NT	TD	AA, UAN	110–202	PP, Sp (PP+SD)	KI, LCD	0.4–119	N
Helmers et al. (2012)	35	IA/USA	1990-93	Clay loam	СР	TD	UAN	0–224	SD, AP	КІ	4–88	N
Jayasundara et al. (2007)	2	ON/Canada	2003	Silt loam	NT, MB	None	UAN, Urea	60–150	AP, SD	Brd/Inc, KI	1.9–2.1	Y
Jaynes (2013)	6	IA/USA	2006, 2008	Clay loam	СР	TD	UAN	134–157	SD, Sp	КІ	21.6-46.3	N
Jaynes and Colvin (2006)	8	IA/USA	2002, 2004	Clay loam	СР	TD	UAN	69–199	SD, Sp	кі	10.7–36.9	N
Jaynes et al. (2001)	6	IA/USA	1996, 1998	Loam	МВ, СР	TD	AA, UAN	57–202	PP, SD	KI	37–61	Y
Jemison and Fox (1994)	9	PA/USA	1988-90	Silt loam	СР	IRR	AN	0–200	AP	Brd	23.6–133	N
Kucharik and Brye (2003)	12	WI/USA	1995-00	Silt loam	CP, NT	None	AN	0–180	РР	Brd	3.2–102	Y
Lawlor et al. (2008)	49	IA/USA	1990-04	Clay loam	СР	TD	UAN	0–252	AP, PP	KI	0–88	N
Lawlor et al. (2011)	16	IA/USA	2001-04	Clay loam	СР	None	AqA	168–252	F, PP, SD	KI	25–86	N
Maharjan et al. (2014)	16	MN/USA	2009-10	Loamy sand	СР	IRR	ESN, SupU, Urea, UAN	5.6–185.6	PP+St, Sp+St	Brd/Inc	1.4–47.4	Ŷ
Porter (1995)	36	CO/USA	1991-93	Silty clay loam	Unk	IRR	AS	0–376	Unk	Brd/Inc	0.8–24.5	Y
Prunty and Greenland (1997)	4	ND/USA	1993, 1995	Loamy sand	Unk	IRR	UAN, Urea	82–136	Sp (PP+SD)	Bnd SS	3–118	N
Randall and Vetsch (2003)	24	MN/USA	1987-88, 1990-93	Clay loam	CsT	TD	AA, AA+NP	150	F, PP, Sp (PP+SD)	KI	2–122	Y
Randall and Vetsch (2005)	24	MN/USA	1994-99	Clay loam	CsT	TD	AA, AA+NP	135	F, PP	KI	4–63	Y
Sexton et al. (1996)	16	MN/USA	1991-92	Sandy loam	MB	IRR	Urea	20–180	Sp+St	Brd	15–141	Y

Sogbedji et al. (2000)	17	NY/USA	1992-94	Clay loam, Loamy sand	MB	None	UAN	22–134	AP, SD+St	Bnd, Kl	5.9–34.9	Y
Tan et al. (2002)	12	ON/Canada	1998-00	Clay loam	MB	TD	AN	0–128.8	Sp	Brd	2.5–47.9	N
Walters and Malzer (1990)	27	MN/USA	1980-82	Sandy loam	Unk	IRR	Urea, Urea+NP	0–180	АР	Brd, Brd/Inc	6.9–140.7	Y
Kalita et al. (2006)	16	IL/USA	1992-00	Silty clay Ioam	CsT	TD	Unknown	0–254	РР	Brd	3.3–72.6	Ν
Kaluli et al. (1999)	5	QC/Canada	1994	Sandy loam	СР	TD, SIRR	AN	0–270	SD + St	Brd	2.6–21.9	Y
Toth and Fox (1998)	9	PA/USA	1991, 1994	Silt loam	СР	IRR	AN	13–213	PP+St	Brd	4.5–91.7	N
Zhu and Fox (2003)	6	PA/USA	1997, 1999	Silt loam	NT, CP	None	AN	0–200	PP+St	Unk	8–135	N

Abbreviations

Tillage Practice: CP - Chisel plow; CsT - Conservation tillage (reduced, strip, ridge, precision, vertical); MB - Moldboard plow; NT - No till; Unk - Unknown

Water Management: IRR - Irrigated; SIRR - Subirrigation; TD - Tile drainage

N source, as well as co-applied nitrification and urease inhibitors: AA - Anhydrous ammonia; AN - Ammonium nitrate; AS - Ammonium sulfate; AqA - Aqueous ammonia; ESN - ESN[®], Environmental Smart Nitrogen; NP - Nitrapyrin; SupU - SUPERU[™]; UAN - Urea ammonium nitrate

Fertilizer timing: AP - At planting; F - Fall; PP - Preplant; SD - Side dress; Sp - Split; St - Starter

Fertilizer placement: Brd - Broadcast; Brd/Inc - Broadcast and incorporated; Bnd - Banded; Bnd SS - Banded subsurface; KI - Knife injected; LCD - Localized compaction and doming; Unk - Unknown

Fertilizer N rate yield, nitrous oxide, and nitrate

Fertilizer N rate effects on yield and N losses were determined from experiments that explore multiple rates, using rate response on a continuous basis. Compared to placement, source, and timing, fertilizer rate effects on N losses have been studied in far more field experiments and are the subject of numerous reviews and syntheses. In corn studies where crop yield was also reported (i.e. the database collected for this study), 129 (32%) of the N₂O observations and 162 (41%) of the NO₃ observations were from experiments that measured at least three fertilizer rates including a control.



Figure 3. Corn grain yield response to fertilizer N rate in eight different example site-years

With these observations, models of each individual site-year were generated to look at the responses of corn grain yield, N_2O emission, and NO_3 leaching as compared to fertilizer N rate. Figure 3 shows an example of corn grain yield response of eight different site-years. Not surprisingly, yield increased with fertilizer N rate over a certain range, and then leveled off. Yield response for each site-year generally followed a Michaelis-Menten type saturation curve, but with an added y-intercept (instead of starting at zero). The equation is

(3)
$$Y_{fert} = Y_0 + \frac{Y_{inc}[N_{fert}]}{K_m}$$

where Y_{fert} is yield at a given fertilizer rate, Y_0 is yield without fertilizer N, Y_{inc} is the maximum yield increase possible, N_{fert} is N fertilizer rate, and K_m is a saturation constant equal to the fertilizer rate at which half of the maximum yield increase has been achieved. There were some significant differences between locations and some variation between years at the same location. The yield in plots without fertilizer N varied (i.e., different y-intercepts), and so did the yield response to fertilizer N additions (affecting the shape of the curve). Nitrous oxide emissions responded differently to fertilizer N rate than corn grain yield. For these data, the best relationship between rate and losses was exponential (see Figure 4 for an example). In some locations, the N2O emissions remained much lower than in others, even at high fertilizer application rates. As with yield, the baseline (or emissions in the case of zero N fertilizer) varied by location and by year within the same location. The rate of increase also varied somewhat. Nitrate, on the other hand, was highly variable, and while NO₃ losses did increase with rate, there was not always a clear relationship. The best fit for this relationship was linear (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Nitrous oxide emission response to fertilizer N rate in six example site-years



Figure 5. Nitrate leaching response to fertilizer N rate in five example site-years

Side-by-side comparisons of 4R management factors

The effects of 4R management on N losses to N_2O and NO_3 can be assessed from these data with at least two different approaches. First, all available side-by-side comparisons (i.e., experiments where the only difference was the specific management practice) can be summarized and used to calculate the average effect (or effect size) of that treatment. Because other factors are not considered, conclusions about these practices based on this standard meta-analysis method should be limited to the locations and other characteristics of the specific experiments. In the corn fertilizer management field data, effect sizes are not representative of the climatically diverse overall corn producing area in North America, nor do they characterize the varied management in tillage, crop rotations, drainage, and other factors. The second approach involves using data from diverse experiments to create an empirical model that considers all available climatic and management factors to test for effects of management differences that are not limited to the side-by-side experiments. The second approach, a multi-level model, is described in the following section.



Figure 6. Effect sizes of N_2O and NO_3 losses from selected fertilizer management treatments, yield-scaled percent change with 95% confidence intervals. ISO = "Instead of" and values in parentheses are (# of comparisons/# of locations).

We calculated effect sizes of source and timing for treatments where the data contained at least nine side-by-side comparisons from at least two different locations. Effect sizes are weighted means, with the contribution of individual observations affected by the number of observations per location. Reported in this manner, effect sizes do not consider factors other than the specified contrasted 4R management treatments. Therefore, the interpretation would be that the reported effect sizes are the average response to the specific treatment across all locations and in the given fertilizer source, crop rotation, and other characteristics of the studies supplying the data.

For the number of side-by-side comparisons for all available source, placement, and timing contrasts, see Appendix B. Of the source, placement, and timing data, the best available information compares N₂O losses between fertilizer sources. Effect sizes are presented in Figure 6. Replacing anhydrous ammonia with urea in Minnesota and Tennessee reduced yield-scaled N₂O emissions by an average of 45% (Fujinuma et al. 2011; Thornton et al. 1996; Venterea et al. 2010). The combination of data from Colorado, Pennsylvania, and Minnesota found that SUPERU[™] reduced N₂O emissions by 26% when compared to urea (Dell et al. 2014; Halvorson and Del Grosso 2012; Halvorson and Del Grosso 2013; Halvorson et al. 2010a; Maharjan and Venterea 2013; Venterea et al. 2011b). The loss reduction with SUPERU[™] was most likely owing to nitrification and urease inhibitors within its formulation. SUPERU[™] also reduced emissions by 15% when compared to polymer-coated urea in Minnesota and Colorado (Halvorson et al. 2010b; Venterea et al. 2011b) and to UAN in Colorado and Kentucky (Halvorson and Del Grosso 2012; Halvorson and Del Grosso 2013; Halvorson et al. 2010b; Halvorson et al. 2011; Sistani et al. 2011). Data from Minnesota, Ontario, and Missouri found that emissions from polymer-coated urea were not significantly different from urea (Drury et al. 2012; Nash et al. 2012; Venterea et al. 2011b), and AGROTAIN[®] PLUS also did not generate consistent emission reductions when added to UAN in Colorado and Pennsylvania (Dell et al. 2014; Halvorson and Del Grosso 2012; Halvorson et al. 2010b; Halvorson et al. 2011).

Various fertilizer placement and timing options have also been tested for N₂O emission impact, although none were replicated in more than one study within the database. Nitrous oxide emissions have been reduced by deeper placement of ammonium nitrate on a clay loam soil in Ontario (Drury et al. 2006), and by deeper placement of anhydrous ammonia on a loamy sand soil in Minnesota (Fujinuma et al. 2011). In contrast, sub-surface placement of ESN lost more N2O than surface band placement in both no-till and strip-till corn on a clay loam soil in Colorado (Halvorson and Del Grosso 2012; Halvorson et al. 2011). Band placement also increased emissions in contrast to broadcast for a number of different sources in both Colorado and Minnesota (Halvorson and Del Grosso 2013; Maharjan and Venterea 2013). Even though there were insufficient timing observations to calculate effect sizes, individual study results from North Dakota and Indiana found that changing from early to late spring application (Phillips et al. 2009) and splitting fertilizer into two applications (Smith et al. 2011) had little impact on either area or yield-scaled N₂O emissions in corn.

The combined effect size of nitrate leaching losses calculated for spring anhydrous ammonia application as opposed to fall was not significantly different from zero (Figure 6), when considering jointly a Minnesota study that measured a 14% reduction (Randall and Vetsch 2005) and an Iowa experiment that found no impact (Lawlor et al. 2011). Too few observations were available to calculate any multistudy effect sizes for other timing changes or for the other 4R management practices, so the information available is limited to individual experiments. Splitting fertilizer application during the growing season did not affect NO₃ leaching losses in Iowa (Jaynes 2013; Jaynes and Colvin 2006). Individual experiments found no significant difference in NO₃ leaching between SUPERU[™] and polymer-coated urea (Maharjan et al. 2014), or with nitrification inhibitors added with either urea (Walters and Malzer 1990) or anhydrous ammonia (Randall and Vetsch 2005). Tests of fertilizer N placement in Iowa and Minnesota found no significant effects on NO₃ leaching losses (Bakhsh et al. 2010; Walters and Malzer 1990).

Hierarchical models of nitrous oxide and nitrate loss

To combine data from all the different studies into a large dataset for analysis, it was necessary to develop something more complex than a simple regression model. Multi-level, or hierarchical, regression models were used to figure out relationships at each location while allowing each location to explain the overall effect. These models were developed for both nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching losses.

Nitrous oxide model results

The first nitrous oxide model includes all observations, and a restricted model includes only observations that fall within the typical fertilizer N application rates of 150 to 250 kg N/ha (Table 3). For both models, the dependent variable is the log of emissions and the significant explanatory variables include rate, yield, July temperature, nitrification inhibitors, injected fertilizer placement, and side dress fertilizer application timing. Interactions between variables were not significant in the model.

Table 3. Hierarchical (multi-level) regression models of N_2O emissions in North American corn cropping systems. The dependent variable is the natural log of N_2O emissions (kg N/ha). Model 2 restricts observations to those with fertilizer N application rates between 150 and 250 kg N/ha.

	Model 1 (n=408, 19 clusters)		Model 2 (n=267, 17 clusters) [N Rates: 150–250 kg/ha]			
	Coeff	Std Err	Coeff	Std Err		
N Rates (kg N/ha)	0.0059***	0.0005	0.0035*	0.002		
Yield (Mg grain/ha)	0.048***	0.013	0.061***	0.019		
July Temp (°C)	0.224**	0.094	0.256**	0.101		
Nitrification inhibitors	-0.330***	0.086	-0.365***	0.091		
Inject fertilizer	0.520***	0.073	0.421***	0.102		
Sidedress fertilizer	-0.372***	0.078	-0.503***	0.100		
Constant	-5.784***	2.137	-6.209***	2.307		
ψ – variance between clusters	0.512		0.443			
θ – variance within clusters	0.265		0.271			

*, **, and *** indicate statistical significance at the 0.10, 0.05, and 0.01 levels, respectively.

The model shows a positive effect of rate, yield, July temperature, injected fertilizer, and a negative effect of nitrification inhibitors and side-dressed fertilizer. Coefficients can be interpreted as the percent change in emissions from a change in one unit (for N rate, yield, and temperature) or from adoption of a

practice (for nitrification inhibitors, injecting fertilizer, and side-dress timing of fertilizer). For example, we can see that each additional 10 kg of N/ha contributes to an average 5.9% increase in N_2O emissions. This non-linear response means that the absolute response depends on the baseline loss rate). Also, each one degree rise in average July temperature results in a 22.4% increase in emissions. The total variance between clusters (psi) and within clusters (theta) are also shown in Table 3. A significant amount of total variance occurs between clusters, indicating that using location as a group explains much of the model error. Therefore, a significant amount of the variance in the data is explained by differences between research sites.





When restricting the model to observations at typical fertilizer N application rates, the impact of rate decreased somewhat, so that growing season temperature and three fertilizer management practices were more important in comparison. Injecting fertilizer had a positive effect on N₂O emissions, although this seemed to be complicated with fertilizer source (since only certain sources were injected). Figure 7 illustrates the response of N₂O to temperature, nitrification inhibitors, and side-dress fertilizer application, with the lines showing the model results and individual observations depicted as circles. For example, at the average July temperature of 23 degrees C, side-dressing fertilizer (instead of pre-plant) and using nitrification inhibitors reduced N₂O losses from 2.7 kg N/ha to 1.2 kg N/ha.

Nitrate model results

The NO₃ models were also developed for both full and restricted (110-270 kg fertilizer N/ha) datasets. These models (Table 4) found a positive effect of rate, yield, annual precipitation, and aqueous ammonia compared to other sources. As with N₂O, interactions between variables were not significant in the model. Higher fertilizer N application rates as well as less crop N uptake (associated with lower yield) are also associated with increased nitrate losses. On average, at typical application rates, 10% of each additional unit of fertilizer N was lost via NO₃ leaching. Figure 8 shows actual observations (circles) and the modeled NO₃ loss response (lines) for typical fertilizer application rates, that is, the restricted model.

Table 4. Hierarchical (multi-level) regression models of NO_3 leaching losses in North American corn cropping systems. Dependent variable in both models is NO_3 losses (kg N/ha). Model 2 restricts observations to sites with fertilizer N application rates between 110 and 270 kg N/ha.

	Model 1 (n=396, 16	5 clusters)	Model 2 (n=275, 16 clusters) [N Rates – 110–270 kg/ha]			
	Coeff	Std Err	Coeff	Std Err		
N Rates (kg N/ha)	0.080***	0.017	0.102***	0.036		
Yield (Mg grain/ha)	1.801***	0.595	2.082***	0.775		
Annual Precip (mm)	0.079***	0.009	0.091***	0.011		
Irrigated (0 or 1)			15.746	10.905		
Soil Carbon (g/kg soil)	-1.135***	0.344	-1.355***	0.477		
Yr of study (mean=0)	-1.199***	0.340	-1.016***	0.387		
Aqueous ammonia fertilizer source	18.193***	6.082	18.293***	6.559		
Constant	-34.537***	9.996	-47.634***	16.042		
ψ – variance between clusters	188.4		217.5 .			
θ – variance within clusters	389.1		410.6			

*** indicates statistical significance at the 0.01 level

Greater amounts of precipitation resulted in higher leaching losses. For example, a given year or a location that had 100 mm more precipitation than a drier year or location experienced an average of 9 kg N/ha more NO₃ lost via leaching. Irrigation increased nitrate losses in a similar manner to a wet climate. Therefore, the important relationship between irrigation and precipitation dictated inclusion of irrigation in the final restricted model, even though the irrigation variable was only significant at p=0.15.

The end result was that of much more accurate modeled estimates for the irrigated observations (which were located in low precipitation regions that would otherwise suggest low loss rates).



Figure 8. Nitrate loss response to fertilizer N rate, precipitation or irrigation, and fertilizer source. Model results and observations come from corn/maize field experiments in North America for which yield data are available, and are limited to those with fertilizer N application rates between 110 and 270 kg N/ha. Observations and modeled lines are separated into two precipitation categories; those denoted "wet" climate were irrigated or had annual precipitation greater than 800 mm, and those that are "dry" received less than 800 mm in annual precipitation.

While increased precipitation or other water addition increased losses, soil carbon on the other hand (itself often associated with wetter climates) had a negative impact. The model shows that on average, each additional 10 g/kg of soil C (or 1%) reduced average NO₃ loss by 14 kg N/ha. Since leaching rates are higher in more coarse-textured soils (e.g., sand) that also do not retain as much organic matter, the impact of soil C may be related to texture, but soil texture as a factor on its own was not significant in any models tested.

The only management practice with any significant impact was N fertilizer source, with increased NO₃ leaching (an average of 18 kg N/ha) when aqueous ammonia was used in place of other fertilizer sources – primarily UAN in these data. Since aqueous ammonia comprised only a small number of total observations, the effect on nitrate losses due to source was tested in a model further restricted to the two locations that had aqueous ammonia observations (model not shown). This test confirmed that losses for aqueous ammonia were significantly higher than from UAN in these locations.

Finally, the year of study also had a negative impact, suggesting that losses were affected by some undocumented or otherwise uncaptured change in management, crop variety, location of study, or measurement technique. Over the entire time period of 30 yrs, this resulted in difference of about 30 kg N/ha. It should be noted that this is most likely a factor of the types of studies that were conducted in different time periods, so should not be interpreted as indication that losses are actually decreasing over time. The models find that grouping the data by location explains a significant amount of the variability (i.e., ψ , the variance between clusters, accounts for 35% of the variance). However, in this case, we also see a high degree of variability remaining within the clusters, indicating that within locations there was a large amount of scatter in the data.

Discussion

Generalizing the impacts of 4R management activities across regions and varied management systems is not possible with individual studies or even standard meta-analysis effect sizes. Therefore, the combination of data from many different studies with a hierarchical model contributes some valuable insights. The hierarchical models allow us to assess the N₂O and NO₃ loss implications of different fertilizer management activities, not only those compared within specific studies, but also those that vary between studies by controlling for climate, soil, and other management factors. With the available data, these empirical models were not able to detect significant interactions between relevant factors. However, any results should be interpreted keeping in mind that temperature, soil C, soil texture, and other factors in these systems are related to one another, and such relationships are bound to have implications for N cycling.

While insufficient input data for our models make it impossible to develop broader conclusions for some of the 4Rs (or aspects thereof), other activities show clear results. For example, our models show that using nitrification inhibitors and delaying fertilizer application by side-dressing both reduce N₂O emissions. Further, replacing aqueous ammonia with UAN or other sources – at least in certain locations – reduced NO₃ losses by an average of 18 kg N/ha. Also, greater levels of soil C reduce NO₃ losses. Most of these factors were not tested (or could not be tested) in side-by-side comparisons, and when they were assessed, results from individual studies tended to be uncertain. Therefore, by including data from multiple experiments that represent broad climatic and soil conditions, the models begin to find results that have policy-relevance.

As expected (and because it was tested in the majority of studies), fertilizer N rate was one of the most important factors affecting N₂O emissions and NO₃ losses, both on an area-basis and when yield-scaled. Some loss reductions without corresponding yield declines are likely achievable through adjusting current fertilizer application rates. This is because of the exponential response of N₂O emissions to increasing rates that corresponds to a linear response of NO₃ and a saturation curve response of yield. If these relationships can be established for individual regions or fields with given soil C, temperature, and expected moisture regimes, it should be possible to optimize rates for the desired yield and N loss results.

While yield, nitrous oxide emissions, and nitrate leaching losses all increased with fertilizer N rate, there were also some other important differences. For example, the typical losses from nitrous oxide emissions were between 1 and 2 kg N/ha while the typical losses from nitrate leaching were between 20 and 50 kg N/ha. Marginal damage cost estimates are similar for both N₂O and NO₃, around \$7 to \$20 per kg of N (Compton et al. 2011; van Grinsven et al. 2013), with projected abatement costs for one effort (the Chesapeake Bay) in a comparable range (\$8-15 per kg N). Therefore, with average NO₃ losses exceeding those of N₂O, and even though there are some unquantified tradeoffs, nitrate may be more of an environmental concern than nitrous oxide emissions in the average system.

Fertilizer source comparisons suggest the following order of preferred sources for minimizing N₂O emissions within the studies included, with the best options listed first: SUPERU^M > UAN+ AGROTAIN[®] PLUS ≥ UAN ≥ polymer-coated Urea ≥ Urea > Anhydrous Ammonia. The multi-level model finds that nitrification inhibitors (such as those found in SUPERU^M) significantly lowered N₂O emissions. Given this consistency, we can conclude that this would apply across many, although perhaps not all, of the broader climatic and management systems for corn production in North America. With very minimal side-by-side comparisons testing fertilizer source impacts on nitrate losses, and in fact, little variation in fertilizer sources overall in these experiments, the only source that had any significant impact on NO₃ was aqueous ammonia. That this uncommon fertilizer source is associated with higher losses has little practical implication, however, since the baseline use is very low. Further testing is therefore necessary to determine if there may be a similar pattern in terms of both N₂O and NO₃ losses when it comes to fertilizer source.

In side-by-side comparisons and traditional meta-analysis, timing and placement do not have sufficient data to make any conclusions as to their impact on either N_2O or NO_3 losses. However, side-dressing fertilizer, or applying while a crop was growing, was found to have significant N_2O emission reduction potential within the hierarchical model. This finding is in agreement with expectation and the theory that delaying fertilizer N availability in mineral form until needed by the crop is optimum for both production and environmental reasons.

Temperature, soil C, and precipitation are also important in certain cases, but whether they can be managed is another question. Our model finds a negative relationship between NO₃ losses and soil organic matter (i.e., soil C), a soil characteristic that can be managed with tillage, residue return, and cover crops, among other things. However, one potential problem with increasing soil C for the sake of reducing NO₃ losses is that N₂O emissions tend to be higher in soils with more organic matter. There is thus the possibility of a trade-off between the two N loss pathways. The greater rates of N loss associated with temperature and precipitation may mean that efforts to reduce losses may be most effective, or most needed, in warmer and wetter regions. This information could be useful in targeting policy or programs.

For NO₃ losses, losses at the field scale may not always translate into NO₃ pollution of ground or surface waters, as off-site or field-border management such as riparian buffers, constructed wetlands, and perennial filter strips can be used to remove NO₃ from runoff or leachate water (Fennessy and Craft 2011). However, these also tend to generate indirect N₂O emissions (Fisher et al. 2014). Much research

and numerous water quality trading protocols study and implement these management practices. The three main mechanisms for removal in these systems are plant uptake, microbial N immobilization into soil organic matter, and denitrification to N_2O or N_2 (Matheson et al. 2002 and Hefting et al. 2005, cited in lqbal et al. 2015). Different soils and vegetation systems can vary in N gas product ratios (i.e., N_2O/N_2); N_2O fluxes decrease with greater levels of potentially mineralizable carbon (C). While efforts could be made to encourage complete denitrification to N_2 (thus reducing the proportion of N_2O released), the potential environmental tradeoffs of air quality issues for the sake of improved water quality could be significant. IPCC GHG protocols include indirect N_2O emissions of 22.5% of all applied N in wet or irrigated areas to account for this off-site denitrification. In addition, plant and SOM uptake of NO_3 could reach a saturation point so that losses are reduced only in the short term (lqbal et al. 2015; Mitchell et al. 2015). Therefore, in-field NO_3^- loss reductions are an essential front line in the effort to reduce negative environmental impacts to water and air quality.

Gap Analysis

It is difficult to derive accurate estimates of anticipated yield impacts and N loss reductions for many of the recommended 4R fertilizer management practices, as these questions have either not been sufficiently tested in field experiments or the data have not been published for various reasons. Key corn-producing regions in North America are also missing from the available field data. In addition to the possible treatment-response bias within the data that are available (a problem not uncommon for meta-analysis), the paucity of information means that while we may have an idea of directionality, it is difficult to design policy and programs without better quantification. For example, which practice will achieve the most N₂O loss reductions in a specific watershed, without negative yield or NO₃ leaching consequences? To better target future research, it is advisable to start with better understanding relationships between N₂O and NO₃ losses in different soils and climates. After that, field research can be directed to key regions and farming systems, to test practices that could be reasonably adopted by producers in those regions.

Future field experiments on N losses, and the presentation thereof, need to be more standardized and provide additional measurements in order to better advise biophysical models and policy. First, losses of NO₃ and N₂O should be co-measured to ensure relationships are clearly understood. This could be done efficiently by adding one or the other to field experiments for which management is already being compared for one loss pathway. Second, more complete data on N pools and transformations are needed. Data on crop N uptake and pre-plant available soil N in the current study were seriously lacking, so that N excess could not be calculated with the existing field research. In cropping systems, we tend to assume that crop plants have first priority for available N. Therefore, the relationship between absolute N rate and N losses will likely show more variability and noise than those that relate N excess to losses. The contrast of the two variables is therefore valuable. These relationships are important to understand before determining the overall loss response to rate, when controlling for other factors. And finally, an indication of variability within the data collected needs to be reported. Because these data are not generally reported, current models cannot (and do not) include variability in final loss estimates.

Measures of Excess Nitrogen

If indeed soil sampling for available nutrients is beneficial for management, more accurate predictions of crop yield and N loss should be achieved with measures of N excess as opposed to simple fertilizer N application rates. For this reason, we set out to calculate N excess in two different ways: 1) N fertilizer applied minus aboveground N uptake, and 2) N fertilizer plus pre-plant available N minus aboveground N uptake. Very few studies recorded available N (NO₃ and NH₄) at either pre-plant or side-dress dates; only 11.3% of N₂O observations and 5.3% of NO₃ observations. Therefore, the second equation for determining N Excess was not feasible with the data limitations. Data limitations also contributed to high level of uncertainty in estimations of aboveground N uptake. Complete whole plant data were available for 21% of N₂O observations and 24% of NO₃ observations. Estimations calculated from grain N uptake, total aboveground biomass, and total grain yield were used to derive N uptake for remaining observations. Uncertainty was therefore introduced in numerous places: in estimates of N harvest index, in estimates of harvest index. This high uncertainty – caused by lack of sufficient data – meant that the calculated N excess did not improve any relationships (and in fact was worse) for N losses or yield.

Interactions between NO₃ and N₂O

Regarding both NO₃ and N₂O losses, what can we say about unintended shifting of N loss across forms? With very little overlap in the field data reporting losses in both pathways, it is nearly impossible to make any measurement-based conclusions about trade-offs or interactions between NO₃ and N₂O losses as affected by different management practices, soil type, or climate. Only one study reported both types of loss, and the systems for which NO₃ and N₂O were monitored are also very different. For example, most NO₃ but only a few N₂O observations were reportedly in tile drained fields, far more N₂O observations were in no-till systems, and the primary-focus fertilizer management practices differed between NO₃ and N₂O studies.

Therefore, the only currently plausible method of comparing and contrasting loss responses of both to different treatments may be through process-based models that have been calibrated and validated as best as possible to the soil, climate, crop, and management conditions. Unfortunately, COMET-Farm one of the most commonly used of these models is built primarily on data from only the state of Michigan (Davidson et al. 2014), which are a subset of the incomplete data that comprise this study. Additional field data are essential, but so is the incorporation of those data into existing process-based models. In the end, the models face the same limitations as this meta-analysis, in that key data from certain soil types and climates are missing and there are also no calibration data available for some of the 4Rs that have been poorly studied.

We hoped to apply the refined understanding of NUE and N losses as affected by management across soils and climates to estimates of 4R management benefits with widespread adoption. However, the lack of geographic, climatic, and soil type coverage for many practices, and the lack of overlap between N_2O and NO_3 make this difficult. While we are able to answer a few questions about management, the conclusions are most often limited to the study locations and interactions between multiple factors difficult to tease out.

Conclusions

Even though data are limited, the field research on N₂O and NO₃ losses in corn-based systems in North America points to potential system improvements and reduced losses with a selection of 4R nutrient management practices. Fertilizer rate reductions without yield decline, combined with appropriate source, timing, and placement can provide air and water quality benefits. The total benefit possible depends on baseline practices and current loss rates in each region and for each cropping system. If the standard practices tested in the field data from this meta-analysis appropriately represent those in production agriculture, nitrification inhibitors could reduce average N₂O emissions by 36%, and sidedressing fertilizer instead of applying at or before planting could reduce emissions by 50%. In addition, where aqueous ammonia fertilizer is in use, average NO₃ leaching reductions of 18 kg N/ha may be achieved by using UAN or urea fertilizer instead. These reductions would likely vary with climate and soil characteristics, so any policies or programs incentivizing practices and estimating environmental benefit should use appropriately validated models.

However, these conclusions cannot be applied with certainty across the broad climatic and soil conditions in North America, especially those for which no field data are available. Cross-site comparisons are needed to capture both N₂O and NO₃ loss potential and how they relate to each other in varying regions and with different management. Such initial work could then be used to more efficiently target more strategically-coordinated field research. Current networks of research sites compiled for GRACEnet and LTAR studies may be good starting points for some of this work.

References

- Adviento-Borbe, M.A.A., M.L. Haddix, D.L. Binder, D.T. Walters and A. Dobermann. 2007. Soil greenhouse gas fluxes and global warming potential in four high-yielding maize systems. *Global Change Biology* 13(9):1972–88.
- Akiyama, H., X.Y. Yan and K. Yagi. 2010. Evaluation of effectiveness of enhanced-efficiency fertilizers as mitigation options for N₂O and NO emissions from agricultural soils: Meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* 16(6):1837–46
- Almaraz, J.J., F. Mabood, X. Zhou, C. Madramootoo, P. Rochette, B.-L. Ma and D.L. Smith. 2009. Carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide fluxes in corn grown under two tillage systems in southwestern Quebec. Soil Science Society of America Journal 73(1):113–19.
- Bakhsh, A., R.S. Kanwar and J.L. Baker. 2010. N-application methods and precipitation pattern effects on subsurface drainage nitrate losses and crop yields. *Water Air and Soil Pollution* 212(1–4):65–76.
- Bakhsh, A., R.S. Kanwar, T.B. Bailey, C.A. Cambardella, D.L. Karlen and T.S. Colvin. 2002. Cropping system effects on NO₃-N loss with subsurface drainage water. *Transactions of the ASAE* 45(6):1789–97.
- Basso, B. and J.T. Ritchie. 2005. Impact of compost, manure and inorganic fertilizer on nitrate leaching and yield for a 6-year maize-alfalfa rotation in Michigan. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 108(4):329–41.
- Bouwman, A.F., L.J.M. Boumans and N.H. Batjes. 2002. Estimation of global NH₃ volatilization loss from synthetic fertilizers and animal manure applied to arable lands and grasslands. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 16(2):Art No. 1024.
- Breitenbeck, G.A. and J.M. Bremner. 1986. Effects of rate and depth of fertilizer application on emission of nitrous-oxide from soil fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 2(4):201–04.
- Breitenbeck, G.A., A.M. Blackmer and J.M. Bremner. 1980. Effects of different nitrogen fertilizers on emission of nitrous-oxide from soil. *Geophysical Research Letters* 7(1):85–88.
- Bremner, J., G. Breitenbeck and A. Blackmer. 1981. Effect of nitrapyrin on emission of nitrous oxide from soil fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. *Geophysical Research Letters* 8(4):353–56.
- Bronson, K.F., A.R. Mosier and S.R. Bishnoi. 1992. Nitrous-oxide emissions in irrigated corn as affected by nitrification inhibitors. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 56(1):161–65.
- Burton, D.L., X.H. Li and C.A. Grant. 2008a. Influence of fertilizer nitrogen source and management practice on N₂O emissions from two Black Chernozemic soils. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 88(2):219–27.
- Burton, D.L., B.J. Zebarth, K.M. Gillarn and J.A. MacLeod. 2008b. Effect of split application of fertilizer nitrogen on N₂O emissions from potatoes. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 88(2):229–39.
- Camargo, J.A. and A. Alonso. 2006. Ecological and toxicological effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems: A global assessment. *Environment International* 32(6):831–49.
- Cavigelli, M.A., S.J. Del Grosso, M.A. Liebig, C.S. Snyder, P.E. Fixen, R.T. Venterea, A.B. Leytem, J.E. McLain and D.B. Watts. 2012. US agricultural nitrous oxide emissions: Context, status, and trends. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 10(10):537–46.
- Compton, J.E., J.A. Harrison, R.L. Dennis, T.L. Greaver, B.H. Hill, S.J. Jordan, H. Walker and H.V. Campbell.
 2011. Ecosystem services altered by human changes in the nitrogen cycle: A new perspective for US decision making. *Ecology Letters* 14(8):804–15.
- Cui, M., X.C. Sun, C.X. Hu, H.J. Di, Q.L. Tan and C.S. Zhao. 2011. Effective mitigation of nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide emissions in intensive vegetable production systems using a nitrification inhibitor, dicyandiamide. *Journal of Soils and Sediments* 11(5):722–30.

- Dalal, R.C., W.J. Wang, G.P. Robertson and W.J. Parton. 2003. Nitrous oxide emission from Australian agricultural lands and mitigation options: A review. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 41(2):165–95.
- Davidson, E.A., J.N. Galloway, N. Millar and A.M. Leach. 2014. N-related greenhouse gases in North America: Innovations for a sustainable future. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 9-10:1–8.
- Davis, D.M., P.H. Gowda, D.J. Mulla and G.W. Randall. 2000. Modeling nitrate nitrogen leaching in response to nitrogen fertilizer rate and tile drain depth or spacing for southern Minnesota, USA. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29(5):1568–81.
- Decock, C. 2014. Mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from corn cropping systems in the midwestern US: Potential and data gaps. *Environmental Science & Technology* 48(8):4247–56.
- Delgado, J.A. and A.R. Mosier. 1996. Mitigation alternatives to decrease nitrous oxides emissions and urea-nitrogen loss and their effect on methane flux. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 25(5):1105–11.
- Dell, C.J., K. Han, R.B. Bryant and J.P. Schmidt. 2014. Nitrous oxide emissions with enhanced efficiency nitrogen fertilizers in a rainfed system. *Agronomy Journal* 106(2):723–31.
- Di, H.J. and K.C. Cameron. 2002a. The use of a nitrification inhibitor, dicyandiamide (DCD), to decrease nitrate leaching and nitrous oxide emissions in a simulated grazed and irrigated grassland. *Soil Use and Management* 18(4):395–403.
- Di, H.J. and K.C. Cameron. 2002b. Nitrate leaching and pasture production from different nitrogen sources on a shallow stoney soil under flood-irrigated dairy pasture. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 40(2):317–34.
- Di, H.J. and K.C. Cameron. 2002c. Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems: Sources, factors and mitigating strategies. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 64(3):237–56.
- Dinnes, D.L., D.L. Karlen, D.B. Jaynes, T.C. Kaspar, J.L. Hatfield, T.S. Colvin and C.A. Cambardella. 2002. Nitrogen management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching in tile-drained midwestern soils. *Agronomy Journal* 94(1):153–71.
- Driscoll, C.T., G.B. Lawrence, A.J. Bulger, T.J. Butler, C.S. Cronan, C. Eagar, K.F. Lambert, G.E. Likens, J.L. Stoddard and K.C. Weathers. 2001. Acidic deposition in the northeastern United States: Sources and inputs, ecosystem effects, and management strategies. *Bioscience* 51(3):180–98.
- Drury, C.F., W.D. Reynolds, C.S. Tan, T.W. Welacky, W. Calder and N.B. McLaughlin. 2006. Emissions of nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide: Influence of tillage type and nitrogen placement depth. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 70(2):570–81.
- Drury, C.F., W.D. Reynolds, X.M. Yang, N.B. McLaughlin, T.W. Welacky, W. Calder and C.A. Grant. 2012. Nitrogen source, application time, and tillage effects on soil nitrous oxide emissions and corn grain yields. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 76(4):1268–79.
- Duxbury, J.M. and P.K. McConnaughey. 1986. Effect of fertilizer source on denitrification and nitrousoxide emissions in a maize-field. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 50(3):644–48.
- Eagle, A.J. and L.P. Olander. 2012. Greenhouse gas mitigation with agricultural land management activities in the United States—A side-by-side comparison of biophysical potential. *Advances in Agronomy* 115:79–179.
- Fageria, N.K. and V.C. Baligar. 2005. Enhancing nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants. *Advances in Agronomy* 88:97–185.
- Fennessy, S. and C. Craft. 2011. Agricultural conservation practices increase wetland ecosystem services in the Glaciated Interior Plains. *Ecological Applications* 21(3):S49–S64.
- Fisher, K., P.A. Jacinthe, P. Vidon, X. Liu and M.E. Baker. 2014. Nitrous oxide emission from cropland and adjacent riparian buffers in contrasting hydrogeomorphic settings. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 43(1):338–48.

- Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Betts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean, D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz and R. Van Dorland. 2007. Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing, *In* S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller, eds. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Fujinuma, R., R.T. Venterea and C. Rosen. 2011. Broadcast urea reduces N₂O but increases NO emissions compared with conventional and shallow-applied anhydrous ammonia in a coarse-textured soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(6):1806–15.
- Galloway, J.N., A.R. Townsend, J.W. Erisman, M. Bekunda, Z.C. Cai, J.R. Freney, L.A. Martinelli, S.P. Seitzinger and M.A. Sutton. 2008. Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: Recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. *Science* 320(5878):889–92.
- Government of Alberta. 2010. Quantification protocol for agricultural nitrous oxide emissions reductions. Alberta Environment, Climate Change Secretariat, Edmonton, AB.
- Grace, P.R., G.P. Robertson, N. Millar, M. Colunga-Garcia, B. Basso, S.H. Gage and J.P. Hoben. 2011. The contribution of maize cropping in the Midwest USA to global warming: A regional estimate. *Agricultural Systems* 104(3):292–96.
- Guillard, K., T.F. Morris and K.L. Kopp. 1999. The pre-sidedress soil nitrate test and nitrate leaching from corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 28(6):1845–52.
- Halvorson, A.D. and S.J. Del Grosso. 2012. Nitrogen source and placement effects on soil nitrous oxide emissions from no-till corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 41(5):1349–60.
- Halvorson, A.D. and S.J. Del Grosso. 2013. Nitrogen placement and source effects on nitrous oxide emissions and yields of irrigated corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 42(2):312–22.
- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso and C.A. Reule. 2008. Nitrogen, tillage, and crop rotation effects on nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated cropping systems. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 37(4):1337–44.
- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso and F. Alluvione. 2010a. Tillage and inorganic nitrogen source effects on nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated cropping systems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 74(2):436–45.
- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso and F. Alluvione. 2010b. Nitrogen source effects on nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated no-till corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 39(5):1554–62.
- Halvorson, A.D., S.J. Del Grosso and C.P. Jantalia. 2011. Nitrogen source effects on soil nitrous oxide emissions from strip-till corn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(6):1775–86.
- Hao, X., C. Chang, J.M. Carefoot, H.H. Janzen and B.H. Ellert. 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from an irrigated soil as affected by fertilizer and straw management. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 60(1–3):1–8.
- Heilman, P., R.S. Kanwar, R.W. Malone, L. Ma, J.L. Hatfield and K. Boyle. 2012. The Nashua agronomic, water quality, and economic dataset. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 67(6):502–12.
- Helmers, M.J., X. Zhou, J.L. Baker, S.W. Melvin and D.W. Lemke. 2012. Nitrogen loss on tile-drained Mollisols as affected by nitrogen application rate under continuous corn and corn-soybean rotation systems. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 92(3):493–99.
- Hernandez-Ramirez, G., S.M. Brouder, D.R. Smith and G.E. Van Scoyoc. 2009. Greenhouse gas fluxes in an eastern corn belt soil: Weather, nitrogen source, and rotation. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38(3):841–54.
- Hoben, J.P., R.J. Gehl, N. Millar, P.R. Grace and G.P. Robertson. 2011. Non-linear nitrous oxide (N₂O) response to nitrogen fertilizer in on-farm corn crops of the U.S. Midwest. *Global Change Biology* 17(2):1140–52.

- Hyatt, C.R., R.T. Venterea, C.J. Rosen, M. McNearney, M.L. Wilson and M.S. Dolan. 2010. Polymer-coated urea maintains potato yields and reduces nitrous oxide emissions in a Minnesota loamy sand. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 74(2):419–28.
- IPCC. 2006. Guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, Hayama, Japan.
- Iqbal, J., T.B. Parkin, M.J. Helmers, X. Zhou and M.J. Castellano. 2015. Denitrification and nitrous oxide emissions in annual croplands, perennial grass buffers, and restored perennial grasslands. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 79(1):239–50.
- Jayasundara, S., C. Wagner-Riddle, G. Parkin, P. von Bertoldi, J. Warland, B. Kay and P. Voroney. 2007. Minimizing nitrogen losses from a corn-soybean-winter wheat rotation with best management practices. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 79(2):141–59.
- Jaynes, D.B. 2013. Nitrate loss in subsurface drainage and corn yield as affected by timing of sidedress nitrogen. *Agricultural Water Management* 130:52–60.
- Jaynes, D.B. and I.S. Colvin. 2006. Corn yield and nitrate loss in subsurface drainage from midseason nitrogen fertilizer application. *Agronomy Journal* 98(6):1479–87.
- Jaynes, D.B., T.S. Colvin, D.L. Karlen, C.A. Cambardella and D.W. Meek. 2001. Nitrate loss in subsurface drainage as affected by nitrogen fertilizer rate. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(4):1305–14.
- Jemison, J.M. and R.H. Fox. 1994. Nitrate leaching from nitrogen-fertilized and manured corn measured with zero-tension pan lysimeters. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 23(2):337–43.
- Johnson, J.M.F., D. Archer and N. Barbour. 2010. Greenhouse gas emission from contrasting management scenarios in the Northern Corn Belt. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 74(2):396–406.
- Johnson, J.M.F., D.W. Archer, S.L. Weyers and N.W. Barbour. 2011. Do mitigation strategies reduce global warming potential in the northern U.S. Corn Belt? *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(5):1551–59.
- Jolley, V.D. and W.H. Pierre. 1977. Profile accumulation of fertilizer-derived nitrate and total nitrogen recovery in 2 long-term nitrogen-rate experiments with corn. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 41(2):373–78.
- Kalita, P.K., A.S. Algoazany, J.K. Mitchell, R.A.C. Cooke and M.C. Hirschi. 2006. Subsurface water quality from a flat tile-drained watershed in Illinois, USA. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 115(1–4):183–93.
- Kaluli, J.W., C.A. Madramootoo, X.M. Zhou, A.F. MacKenzie and D.L. Smith. 1999. Subirrigation systems to minimize nitrate leaching. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering-ASCE* 125(2):52–58.
- Khalil, M.I., F. Buegger, M. Schraml, R. Gutser, K.G. Richards and U. Schmidhalter. 2009. Gaseous nitrogen losses from a cambisol cropped to spring wheat with urea sizes and placement depths. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 73(4):1335–44.
- Kim, D.G., G. Hernandez-Ramirez and D. Giltrap. 2013. Linear and nonlinear dependency of direct nitrous oxide emissions on fertilizer nitrogen input: A meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 168:53–65.
- Kucharik, C.J. and K.R. Brye. 2003. Integrated Blosphere Simulator (IBIS) yield and nitrate loss predictions for Wisconsin maize receiving varied amounts of nitrogen fertilizer. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 32(1):247–68.
- Lawlor, P.A., M.J. Helmers, J.L. Baker, S.W. Melvin and D.W. Lemke. 2008. Nitrogen application rate effect on nitrate-nitrogen concentration and loss in subsurface drainage for a corn-soybean rotation. *Transactions of the ASABE* 51(1):83–94.
- Lawlor, P.A., M.J. Helmers, J.L. Baker, S.W. Melvin and D.W. Lemke. 2011. Comparison of liquid swine manure and aqua-ammonia nitrogen application timing on subsurface drainage water quality in Iowa. *Transactions of the ASABE* 54(3):973–81.

- Linquist, B.A., M.A. Adviento-Borbe, C.M. Pittelkow, C. van Kessel and K.J. van Groenigen. 2012. Fertilizer management practices and greenhouse gas emissions from rice systems: A quantitative review and analysis. *Field Crops Research* 135:10–21.
- Maharjan, B. and R.T. Venterea. 2013. Nitrite intensity explains N management effects on N₂O emissions in maize. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 66:229–38.
- Maharjan, B., R.T. Venterea and C. Rosen. 2014. Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal* 106(2):703–14.
- McSwiney, C.P. and G.P. Robertson. 2005. Nonlinear response of N₂O flux to incremental fertilizer addition in a continuous maize (*Zea mays* L.) cropping system. *Global Change Biology* 11(10):1712–19.
- Millar, N., G.P. Robertson, A. Diamant, R.J. Gehl, P.R. Grace and J.P. Hoben. 2012. Methodology for quantifying nitrous oxide (N₂O) emission by reducing nitrogen fertilizer use on agricultural crops. Winrock International, Little Rock, Arkansas.
- Mitchell, D.C., M.J. Castellano, J.E. Sawyer and J. Pantoja. 2013. Cover crop effects on nitrous oxide emissions: Role of mineralizable carbon. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 77(5):1765–73.
- Mitchell, D.C., X. Zhou, T.B. Parkin, M.J. Helmers and M.J. Castellano. 2015. Comparing nitrate sink strength in perennial filter strips at toeslopes of cropland watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 44(1):191–99.
- Mosier, A.R., A.D. Halvorson, C.A. Reule and X.J. Liu. 2006. Net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensity in irrigated cropping systems in northeastern Colorado. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 35(4):1584–98.
- Nash, P.R., P.P. Motavalli and K.A. Nelson. 2012. Nitrous oxide emissions from claypan soils due to nitrogen fertilizer source and tillage/fertilizer placement practices. Soil Science Society of America Journal 76(3):983–93.
- Olsen, R.J., R.F. Hensler, O.J. Attoe, S.A. Witzel and L.A. Peterson. 1970. Fertilizer nitrogen and crop rotation in relation to movement of nitrate nitrogen through soil profiles. *Soil Science Society of America Proceedings* 34(3):448–52.
- Omonode, R.A. and T.J. Vyn. 2013. Nitrification kinetics and nitrous oxide emissions when nitrapyrin is coapplied with urea-ammonium nitrate. *Agronomy Journal* 105(6):1475–86.
- Paniagua, S.M. 2006. Use of slow-release N fertilizer to control nitrogen losses due to spatial and climatic differences in soil moisture conditions and drainage in claypan soils, University of Missouri–Columbia, Columbia, MO.
- Parkin, T.B. and J.L. Hatfield. 2010. Influence of nitrapyrin on N₂O losses from soil receiving fall-applied anhydrous ammonia. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 136(1–2):81–86.
- Pelster, D.E., F. Larouche, P. Rochette, M.H. Chantigny, S. Allaire and D.A. Angers. 2011. Nitrogen fertilization but not soil tillage affects nitrous oxide emissions from a clay loam soil under a maize-soybean rotation. *Soil & Tillage Research* 115:16–26.
- Phillips, R.L., D.L. Tanaka, D.W. Archer and J.D. Hanson. 2009. Fertilizer application timing influences greenhouse gas fluxes over a growing season. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38(4):1569–79.
- Porter, L.K. 1995. Depleted ¹⁵N carryover, leaching and uptake for three years of irrigated corn. *Journal* of Contaminant Hydrology 20(3–4):209–26.
- Power, J.F., R. Wiese and D. Flowerday. 2001. Managing farming systems for nitrate control: A research review from management systems evaluation areas. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(6):1866–80.
- Prunty, L. and R. Greenland. 1997. Nitrate leaching using two potato-corn N-fertilizer plans on sandy soil. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 65(1):1–13.

- Qi, Z., L. Ma, M.J. Helmers, L.R. Ahuja and R.W. Malone. 2012. Simulating nitrate-nitrogen concentration from a subsurface drainage system in response to nitrogen application rates using RZWQM2. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 41(1):289–95.
- Randall, G.W. and J.A. Vetsch. 2005. Nitrate losses in subsurface drainage from a corn-soybean rotation as affected by fall and spring application of nitrogen and nitrapyrin. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34(2):590–97.
- Randall, G.W., J.A. Vetsch and J.R. Huffman. 2003. Nitrate losses in subsurface drainage from a cornsoybean rotation as affected by time of nitrogen application and use of nitrapyrin. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 32(5):1764–72.
- Raun, W.R. and G.V. Johnson. 1999. Improving nitrogen use efficiency for cereal production. *Agronomy Journal* 91(3):357–63.
- Ravishankara, A.R., J.S. Daniel and R.W. Portmann. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N₂O): The dominant ozonedepleting substance emitted in the 21st century. *Science* 326(5949):123–25.
- Sexton, B., J. Moncrief, C. Rosen, S. Gupta and H. Cheng. 1996. Optimizing nitrogen and irrigation inputs for corn based on nitrate leaching and yield on a coarse-textured soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 25(5):982–92.
- Shcherbak, I., N. Millar and G.P. Robertson. 2014. Global meta-analysis of the nonlinear response of soil nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions to fertilizer nitrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(25):9199–204.
- Sistani, K.R., M. Jn-Baptiste, N. Lovanh and K.L. Cook. 2011. Atmospheric emissions of nitrous oxide, methane, and carbon dioxide from different nitrogen fertilizers. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(6):1797–805.
- Smith, D.R., G. Hernandez-Ramirez, S.D. Armstrong, D.L. Bucholtz and D.E. Stott. 2011. Fertilizer and tillage management impacts on non-carbon-dioxide greenhouse gas emissions. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 75(3):1070–82.
- Snyder, C.S., T.W. Bruulsema, T.L. Jensen and P.E. Fixen. 2009. Review of greenhouse gas emissions from crop production systems and fertilizer management effects. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 133(3–4):247–66.
- Sogbedji, J.M., H.M. van Es, C.L. Yang, L.D. Geohring and F.R. Magdoff. 2000. Nitrate leaching and nitrogen budget as affected by maize nitrogen rate and soil type. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29(6):1813–20.
- Stehfest, E. and L. Bouwman. 2006. N₂O and NO emission from agricultural fields and soils under natural vegetation: Summarizing available measurement data and modeling of global annual emissions. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 74(3):207–28.
- Tan, C.S., C.F. Drury, W.D. Reynolds, P.H. Groenevelt and H. Dadfar. 2002. Water and nitrate loss through tiles under a clay loam soil in Ontario after 42 years of consistent fertilization and crop rotation. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 93(1–3):121–30.
- Thornton, F.C. and R.J. Valente. 1996. Soil emissions of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide from no-till corn. Soil Science Society of America Journal 60(4):1127–33.
- Thornton, F.C., B.R. Bock and D.D. Tyler. 1996. Soil emissions of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide from injected andydrous ammonium and urea. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 25(6):1378–84.
- Toth, J.D. and R.H. Fox. 1998. Nitrate losses from a corn-alfalfa rotation: Lysimeter measurement of nitrate leaching. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27(5):1027–33.
- van Grinsven, H.J.M., M. Holland, B.H. Jacobsen, Z. Klimont, M.A. Sutton and W.J. Willems. 2013. Costs and benefits of nitrogen for Europe and implications for mitigation. *Environmental Science & Technology* 47(8):3571–79.

- van Groenigen, J.W., G.L. Velthof, O. Oenema, K.J. van Groenigen and C. van Kessel. 2010. Towards an agronomic assessment of N₂O emissions: A case study for arable crops. *European Journal of Soil Science* 61(6):903–13.
- van Kessel, C., R. Venterea, J. Six, M.A. Adviento-Borbe, B. Linquist and K.J. van Groenigen. 2013. Climate, duration, and N placement determine N₂O emissions in reduced tillage systems: A meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* 19(1):33–44.
- Venterea, R.T., M. Burger and K.A. Spokas. 2005. Nitrogen oxide and methane emissions under varying tillage and fertilizer management. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 34(5):1467–77.
- Venterea, R.T., M.S. Dolan and T.E. Ochsner. 2010. Urea decreases nitrous oxide emissions compared with anhydrous ammonia in a Minnesota corn cropping system. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 74(2):407–18.
- Venterea, R.T., C.R. Hyatt and C.J. Rosen. 2011a. Fertilizer management effects on nitrate leaching and indirect nitrous oxide emissions in irrigated potato production. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(4):1103–12.
- Venterea, R.T., B. Maharjan and M.S. Dolan. 2011b. Fertilizer source and tillage effects on yield-scaled N₂O emissions in a corn-cropping system. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 40(5):1521–31.
- Walters, D.T. and G.L. Malzer. 1990. Nitrogen management and nitrification inhibitor effects on nitrogen-15 urea: II. Nitrogen leaching and balance. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 54(1):122–30.
- Zebarth, B.J., P. Rochette, D.L. Burton and M. Price. 2008. Effect of fertilizer nitrogen management on N₂O emissions in commercial corn fields. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 88(2):189–95.
- Zhou, M.H. and K. Butterbach-Bahl. 2014. Assessment of nitrate leaching loss on a yield-scaled basis from maize and wheat cropping systems. *Plant and Soil* 374(1-2):977–91.
- Zhu, Y. and R.H. Fox. 2003. Corn-soybean rotation effects on nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal* 95(4):1028–33.

Appendix A – Selection of Harvest Index for Estimation Purposes

- Michigan State University Extension plots (2009-2012)⁶ in various locations throughout the state, average 0.56, range from 0.35 to 0.79. Using 95% confidence interval for the mean, this is 0.56 (+-0.06).
- 2. Iowa State University⁷, graph of numerous studies over time (era studies from 1920 to 1990), shows gradual increase in HI, studies between 1970 and 1990 have mean of 0.517 (+-0.015).
- 3. Lincoln, NE Ecological Intensification Trial, 1999 to 2001,⁸ 0.50 observed, simulations ranged from 0.50 to 0.53
- 4. Default value used in RUSLE2 model is 0.50 for corn and 0.42 for soybeans.⁹ Based on observations from T. Barten, unpublished, Edgerton et al. 2010 used a regression model for yields between 175-225 bushels per acre (HI=0.0007x + 0.4168), where x = yield in bushels/acre. This resulted in HI ranging from 0.54 to 0.57. A lookup table for field use assumed HI=0.55.
- 5. University of Minnesota Extension publication assumes HI=0.53.¹⁰
- 6. In Table 1, Johnson et al. 2006¹¹ cite Prince et al. 2001¹² for harvest index of corn (as of 2000). Prince et al., in turn, cited Kiniry et al. 1997¹³, who determined the HI for corn of 0.53 from experiments, then compared their economic yield model with measured yields from Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, New York, and Texas. The model performance was "quite good", according to Prince et al. This corn HI of 0.53 was used for the Prince et al. study because of the broad geographic application. Now Johnson et al. use it, and so do others.

⁶ Pennington, Dennis. 2013. "Harvest index: A predictor of corn stove yield. Michigan State University Extension. <u>http://msue.anr.msu.edu/news/harvest_index_a_predictor_of_corn_stover_yield</u>, accessed 8 September 2014 ⁷ Lorenz et al. 2009. "Is Harvest Index Related to Maize Productivity?" Department of Agronomy, University of

Wisconsin- Madison. http://corn2.agron.iastate.edu/NCR167/Meetings/2009/Presentations/NCR167 HI 09 no%20comments.pdf, accessed 8 September 2014.

⁸ Dobermann, Achim R.; Arkebauer, Timothy J.; Cassman, Kenneth G.; Lindquist, J; Specht, James E.; Walters, Daniel T.; and Yang, Haishun, "Understanding and Managing Corn Yield Potential" (2002). Agronomy & Horticulture -- Faculty Publications. Paper 340. <u>http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronomyfacpub/340</u>. Accessed 9 Sept 2014

⁹ Edgerton, Michael D., Steve Peterson, Ty Barten, et al. Commercial scale corn stover harvests using field-specific erosion and soil organic matter targets. 2010. Chapter 15 in Sustainable Alternative Fuel Feedstock Opportunities, Challenges and Roadmaps for Six U.S. Regions.

¹⁰ Coulter, Jeff. 2008. "Avoid excessive harvest of corn residue to maintain soil productivity." University of Minnesota Extension. <u>http://www.extension.umn.edu/agriculture/corn/harvest/avoid-excessive-harvest-of-corn-residue-to-maintain-soil-productivity/index.html</u>, accessed 9 Sept 2014.
¹¹ Johnson, J.M.-F., R.R. Allmaras and D.C. Reicosky (2006). "Estimating Source Carbon from Crop Residues, Roots

¹¹ Johnson, J.M.-F., R.R. Allmaras and D.C. Reicosky (2006). "Estimating Source Carbon from Crop Residues, Roots and Rhizodeposits Using the National Grain-Yield Database." Agronomy Journal 98(3): 622-636.

¹² Prince, S.D., J. Haskett, M. Steininger, H. Strand and R. Wright (2001). "Net primary production of U.S. midwest croplands from agricultural harvest yield data." Ecological Applications 11(4): 1194-1205.

¹³ Kiniry, J.R., J.R. Williams, R.L. Vanderlip, J.D. Atwood, D.C. Reicosky, J. Mulliken, W.J. Cox, H.J. Mascagni, S.E. Hollinger and W.J. Wiebold (1997). "Evaluation of Two Maize Models for Nine U.S. Locations." Agronomy Journal 89(3): 421-426.

Examples from the literature (the first 9 observations are as reported by Kiniry et al. 1997, mean of 0.52):

Location	HI (mean)	HI (SD)	Reference(s)
New York, USA	0.46	0.04	Francis et al., 1978
Colorado	0.47	0.05	Fairbourn et al., 1970
Ontario, Canada	0.47	0.04	Daynard and Muldoon,
			1981 (highest 9 trials)
Hungary	0.50		Zoltán, 1988, 1990
Florida	0.50	0.03	Bennett et al., 1989
			(highest 4 treatments)
Minnesota	0.56	0.04	Voorhees et al., 1989
Argentina	0.57		Sobriano and Ginzo,
			1975
Georgia	0.58	0.05	Brown et al., 1970
Nebraska	0.58	0.02	Raun et al., 1989
USA – maybe Texas	0.53		Kiniry et al. 1997

Based on the above information, we assumed a HI of 0.53 for estimations of N Excess.

Appendix B – Tabulated side-by-side comparisons of fertilizer source, placement, and timing as affecting N₂O and NO₃

Table A1. Fertilizer source studies of N_2O emissions. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.

	Polymer coated urea	SUPERU™	UAN	UAN+ AGROTAIN® PLUS	UAN+NITAMIN NFUSION®	Anhydrous ammonia	Anhydrous ammonia + Nitrapyrin	Ammonium nitrate	Urea: SUPERU™, 50:50	PiNT	Other
Urea	46 (6)	25 (4)	4 (1)	2 (1)		11 (3)	•	•	1 (1)		•
Polymer coated urea	•	28 (5)	6 (1)	4 (1)	•	•	•	•	1 (1)		•
SUPERU™			10 (2)	6 (1)	2 (1)	•		2 (1)	1 (1)		2 (1)
UAN				9 (2)	2 (1)		•	2 (1)		3 (1)	2 (1)
UAN+AGROTAIN® PLUS	· ·	•	•	•	2 (1)	•		•		3 (1)	
Anhydrous ammonia	•						2(1)				•
Ammonium nitrate											2 (1)

Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Venterea et al. (2010), Thornton et al. (1996), Fujinuma et al. (2011), Halvorson and Del Grosso (2012), Venterea et al. (2011b), Halvorson et al. (2010a), Parkin and Hatfield (2010), Halvorson and Del Grosso (2013), Halvorson et al. (2010b), Halvorson et al. (2011), Sistani et al. (2011), Drury et al. (2012), Nash et al. (2012), Maharjan and Venterea (2013), Dell et al. (2014), and Maharjan et al. (2014).

Table A2. Fertilizer source studies of NO_3 leaching losses. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.

	Urea + Nitrapyrin	Anhydrous ammonia + Nitrapyrin	ESN®
Urea	12 (1)		
Anhydrous Ammonia		18 (1)	
SUPERU™			4 (1)

Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Maharjan et al. (2014), Randall and Vetsch (2003), Randall and Vetsch (2005), and Walters and Malzer (1990).

Table A3. Fertilizer placement studies of N_2O emissions. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.



Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Drury et al. (2006), Fujinuma et al. (2011), Halvorson et al. (2011), Halvorson and Del Grosso (2012), Halvorson and Del Grosso (2013), and Maharjan and Venterea (2013).

Note 2. While both Drury et al. (2006) and Fujinuma et al. (2011) tested shallow versus deep knife injection, the definition of shallow and deep were different for these two studies: 1) 2 cm versus 10 cm placement of ammonium nitrate, and 2) 10 cm versus 20 cm placement of anhydrous ammonia, respectively. Therefore, these are not similar enough to calculate meta-analysis effect sizes for the treatment.

Table A4. Fertilizer placement studies of NO_3 leaching losses. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.

	Broadcast	Broadcast & Incorporate	Localized Compaction & Doming
Broadcast		12 (1)	
Knife Inject			5 (1)

Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Bakhsh et al. (2010) and Walters and Malzer (1990).

Table A5. Fertilizer timing studies of N_2O emissions. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.

	Pre-plant only	Side-dress only	Split (pre-plant and side-dress)
Pre-plant only	•	1 (1)	3 (1)

Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Smith et al. (2011) and Phillips et al. (2009).

Table A6. Fertilizer timing studies of NO_3 leaching losses. Number of side-by-side comparisons, with number of locations in parentheses.

	Spring only	Split (V2 +V18)	Split (V2+ V12)	Split (V2+V6)
Fall only	20 (2)			
Side-dress only		2 (1)	1 (1)	1 (1)
Split (V2+V12)	•			2 (1)

Note 1. Observations for this table reported by: Jaynes (2013), Lawlor et al. (2011), Jaynes and Colvin (2006), and Randall and Vetsch (2005).